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Chairman’s Statement =EREE

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am
pleased to present to shareholders the

annual report of VST Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2009.

FNERREFEMAOERRIEZEEHSE
BRERL A ([FXRE ) RARKE 27 ([FAF
) BE—EENF=F=1—HILFEH

& o

This report shows another outstanding performance with
consistent growth and presents the Group’s ability to adjust
to changing economic circumstances.

In 2008, consumer spending around the world dropped
significantly following the outbreak of the global financial
crisis. However, under these difficult times, the Group
has continued to strengthen our relationships with our
vendors, customers and bankers and the Group’s
business foundation. We have continued to achieve
outstanding results during the year. We believe that our
widened product range, enlarged distribution network
and enhanced operational efficiency will place us in good
stead to compete in an increasingly challenging business
environment. We have sharpened our focus on improving
internal efficiencies including generating positive operating
cash flow through better management of working capital
and more effective management of financial resources.
Despite the financial crisis, the Group has continued to
achieve outstanding results, the Group’s turnover increased
significantly by 78.9% to approximately HK$22,091 million
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Chairman’s Statement EFHREE

(2008: approximately HK$12,351 million). Gross profit
amounted to approximately HK$1,049 million (2008:
approximately HK$669 million) representing an increase of
56.8%. Significant one-off expenses have been incurred
during the year for the financing of the acquisition of ECS.
Despite these one-off expenses the Group increased
its net profit to approximately HK$261.8 million from
approximately HK$259.6 million last year. Basic earnings
per share amounted to approximately HK20.85 cents (2008:
approximately HK23.99 cents) per share.

The Group achieved excellent results last year. Leveraging
on our diversified products and strong distribution network,
the Group further improved its product structure and
expanded its distribution channels in Asia Pacific. The
Group has strong distribution networks with over 20,000
business partners in 36 cities among six countries, including
China, Thailand, Malaysia, Singapore, Indonesia and the
Philippines, and our businesses have also extended from
distribution of IT products for the commercial and consumer
markets to provision of enterprise system tools for IT
infrastructure, training, maintenance and support services.
Our diversified product lines include vendors such as HP,
Apple, Seagate, AMD, Intel, Western Digital, Lenovo, IBM,
Sun Microsystems, Microsoft, Oracle, Cisco, BenQ, Hitachi
and many more.

E—RERY BEEA—RERS  NEEFERNS
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Chairman’s Statement =EREE

PROSPECTS

| am very pleased that the Group has continued to deliver
excellent results despite the global financial uncertainty.
Having successfully strengthened the Group’s business
foundation, we can look forward to focus on our product
and geographical expansion plans. The financial crisis has
not stabilised yet and uncertainties about the future have
added difficulties on judgement and decision-making for
enterprises. However, with our experienced management
team, the Group will closely monitor the market dynamics
and prudently look for opportunities during the consolidation
of the industry. We will also seize opportunities to work
with world famous IT suppliers and continue to expand our
product mix and sales channels, as well as actively promote
the consumer awareness and improve the market shares of
IT products with different brands in the PRC and Asia Pacific
S0 as to continue to achieve excellent results.

On behalf of the Directors, | would like to thank our
shareholders for their loyal support of the Group. For the
year ended 31 March 2009, the Directors have proposed a
final dividend of HK3.8 cents per ordinary share.

Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
deepest gratitude to all of our staff for their whole-hearted
devotion and passion towards their duties. | would also like
to thank our Board members and business partners for
their trust and support. We are confident in overcoming the
challenges ahead and will strive our best to maximize returns
for our shareholders.

Li Jialin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 10 July 2009
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Management Discussion and Analysis §2 E&Jmm &k 74

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s consolidated turnover for the year
ended 31 March 2009 amounted to approximately
HK$22,091,000,000 (2008: approximately
HK$12,351,000,000), representing an increase of
approximately 78.9% compared with that of last year.
This significant increase is due to the acquisition of ECS
Holdings Limited (listed in Singapore, stock code: ECS)
towards the end of the last financial year. Gross profit
amounted to approximately HK$1,049,463,000 (2008:
approximately HK$669,381,000) representing an increase
of approximately 56.8% compared with last year. Operating
profit amounted to approximately HK$406,352,000
(2008: approximately HK$374,543,000) representing an
increase of approximately 8.5% compared with that of last
year. Consolidated net profit increased to approximately
HK$261,809,000 from approximately HK$259,553,000 last
year.

In October 2008, the Group successfully refinanced its
bridge loan facility used to acquire ECS to a long-term loan
facility with ABN AMRO Bank N.V., United Overseas Bank
Limited, KBC Bank N.V., Hong Kong Branch and Fubon
Bank (Hong Kong) Limited. It was a great achievement
to have successfully carried out the refinancing under the
economic climate then and an indication of the support
and confidence shown by the banks to the Group. The
bridge loan facility used to acquire ECS was fully repaid in

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009
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Management Discussion and Analysis 2 &z &k 24

November 2008. Finance costs have increased due to high
interest rate on the bridge loan facility. In addition, significant
expenses have been incurred and paid to ABN AMRO Bank
N.V for the extension of the bridge loan facility in June 2008
and to the four banks mentioned above for the refinancing of
the bridge loan to a long term loan facility. These were one-
off expenses that will not recur in the coming financial year.

The basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 March
2009 amounted to approximately HK20.85 cents (2008:
approximately HK23.99 cents) per share. The decrease
was due to the increase in one-off finance costs and
refinancing expenses as mentioned above. The directors
have proposed a final dividend of HK3.8 cents per ordinary
share.

The Group acquired ECS, a leading distributor of IT
Products in Singapore in the last financial year. As a result
of the acquisition, the Group is now one of the largest IT
products distributors in Asia Pacific region, with an extensive
and diversified product lines and distribution networks in
36 cities among six countries, including China, Thailand,
Malaysia, Singapore, Indonesia and the Philippines. The
Group’s businesses have also extended from distribution
of IT products for the commercial and consumer markets
to provision of enterprise system tools for IT infrastructure,
IT infrastructure design and implementation, training,
maintenance and support services.

The acquisition of ECS has proven to be a great success.
ECS has achieved double digit increase in net profit
for all four quarters in 2008 and an overall increase of
approximately 27.2% for the year. ECS’s revenue has
continued to show strong growth as a result of higher sales
of servers, networking products and enterprise software
from the enterprise systems segment, which has grown by
approximately 17.5% in 2008.
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REBEARNBEERCR — 2T N\F+ - AFHE
& o M ERAREEERKIMBHF R LA o ptsh - B
“ERR N\EFRNARLERBEERMARBRITINER -
ARk mifmEERBRE  ERRPERMNF Lt
MIBITWER EXRERAX - ZFERYE BN
X BT ERARMERFEERBRHR -

E-TENF=A=T—HLFEZERELBNOG
20.85 B (ZZT)\5F : £923.998(l)  JHAThdR it
—RBPHERANBRERSIENME - EFEZFIKNK
Hip B B E mAR 3.8 781l -

AEBER LEMRFEEREN IR ERARMRERDHER
EAR - Wi - AREE6EBER (BETE - FHE -
FHRPAE « #ons - ENE MIFRE) 6 EmMmEE Bz &
ZRACMEMRRT R0 #HEM - KA AR &RAE MR
REMADHEAZ— - AREXEBTHERMEETSEZE
ARMRERDHERESEMMBZEZREREXART
B BRI ERRET LB - Bl - EENSIRRT o

WRBENMRBEEIFEEXY - EARMBANR-ZZN
FHANBFREONGEUBUEE  2FEBERY
27.2% - ARNBERZ D MBH MRS - WRERMEEHK
HzHERS  RITTENFERNH17.5%  ERBHRH
W R 2 RFERDIER -

BAERERAE = 2009 F£3)]




Management Discussion and Analysis §2 E&Jmm &k 74

The Group has continuously aimed to widen our product
range in order to provide more choices to our customers.
During the year under review, the Group has continued to
successfully obtain new authorised distributorship, with
the most significant addition being Intel. Our extensive and
diversified products lines now include vendors such as HP,
Apple, Seagate, AMD, Intel, Western Digital, Lenovo, IBM,
Sun Microsystems, Microsoft, Oracle, Cisco, BenQ and
Hitachi, to name a few.

The Group’s outstanding performance has again been
recognised by our long-term partnership with our vendors.
During the period under review, the Group has again
been honored by Seagate the “Outstanding Achievement:
Enterprise Storage — Seagate FY 2008” award, by Hitachi
the “Hitachi Appreciation Award 2007/2008” award and by
Western Digital the “Highest Growth Award 2008” award.

PROSPECTS

Despite delivering a set of strong results this year under
the global financial crisis, we are aware that the global
economy and the global ICT industry continue to be
uncertain. However, the PRC has been aggressively bridging
the gap in its IT infrastructure and this is set to continue
in the coming years. Therefore, the Group will continue to
focus on the potential of the PRC IT market. In addition,
as IT products are becoming an everyday necessity and

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009
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strategic investments in IT will remain critical in achieving
further enhanced efficiency, productivity gains and growth
of businesses, we anticipate that the impact of the global
financial crisis will have a lesser impact on our business.

The Group’s experienced management has continued
to reach industry-leading standard. With the expertise of
our experienced management team and an extensive and
diversified product lines and distribution networks, we are
in an excellent position to continue to focus on the growth
potential of the PRC IT market. The Group will aim to achieve
consistent, healthy operating margin and deliver maximum
shareholders’ return.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2009, the Group’s cash and bank deposits
were approximately HK$304,000,000 (2008: approximately
HK$313,000,000).

As at 31 March 2009, the Group’s borrowings from
banks amounted to approximately HK$1,202,253,000
(2008: approximately HK$2,018,317,000). The gearing
ratio, calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents divided by total equity, was 0.67 (2008: 1.43).

As at 31 March 2009, the Group recorded total current
assets of approximately HK$4,331,400,000 (2008:
approximately HK$4,647,100,000) and total current
liabilities of approximately HK$2,843,800,000 (2008:
approximately HK$3,546,000,000). The current ratio of the
Group, calculated by dividing the total current assets by the
total current liabilities, was approximately 1.52 times as at 31
March 2009 (2008: approximately 1.31 times).
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The Group recorded an increase in shareholders’ funds from
approximately HK$1,106,000,000 as at 31 March 2008 to
approximately HK$1,136,700,000 as at 31 March 2009.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated resources and banking facilities provided by
banks in the PRC, Hong Kong, Singapore, Thailand,
Malaysia, Indonesia and the Philippines. The bank
borrowings of the Group were predominantly subject to
floating interest rates.

Cash and bank deposits of the Group were mainly
denominated in United States dollars, Renminbi, Singapore
dollars and Malaysian Ringgit.

Transactions of the Group are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, Renminbi, Singapore dollars, Thailand baht,
Malaysian ringgit or United States dollars. For the purpose
of optimization of cash resources, the Group regularly
placed surplus funds into short term deposits and interest
received from banks during the year ended 31 March 2009
was approximately HK$9,200,000 (2008: approximately
HK$5,600,000).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had property, plant and
equipment held under finance leases as set out in note 5 to
the accounts.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2009, the Group had contingent liabilities as
set out in note 30 to the accounts.

EMPLOYEES
As at 31 March 2009, the Group had 2,192 (2008: 2,107) full
time employees.

The Group remunerated its employees mainly based on the
industry practice, individual’s performance and experience.
Apart from the basic remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share option may be granted to eligible employees by
reference to the Group’s performance as well as individual’s
performance. Other benefits include medical, annual leave
and retirement schemes. The net total remuneration paid for
the year ended 31 March 2009 amounted to approximately
HK$337,014,000 (2008: approximately HK$182,749,000).
The Group also provides training courses or seminars to its
staff.
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The Company continues to commit itself to maintaining a
high standard of corporate governance and has continued
to devote considerable efforts to identify and formulate
corporate governance practices appropriate for the needs of
its business.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
Throughout the year ended 31 March 2009, the Company
has complied with the code provisions on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules except for one deviation from the
Code as explained below.

Under the code provision A.2.1, the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. The
division of responsibilities between the Chairman and CEO
should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
roles of the Chairman and the CEO of the Company are
not separated and are performed by the same individual,
Mr. Li Jialin. The Directors will meet regularly to consider
major matters affecting the operations of the Company.
The Directors consider that this structure will not impair the
balance of power and authority between the Directors and
the management of Company and believe that this structure
will enable the Group to make and implement decisions
promptly and effectively.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirmed they
have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company.

The Company wishes to highlight the importance of its board
(the “Board”) of Directors in ensuring effective leadership and
control of the Company and transparency and accountability
of all operations.
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The Directors have complied with the rules governing the
listing of securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited which became effective from 1 January 2009.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of
the Company are summarised as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is
vested in the Board, which assumes the responsibility for
leadership and control of the Company and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should take
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters
of the Company, including: the approval and monitoring of
all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management systems, material transactions
(in particular those may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the
company secretary of the Company, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

Each Director is able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by the
abovementioned officers.
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The Board has the full support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the senior management to discharge its responsibilities.

Composition

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and
experience necessary for its independent judgement and
fulfilling its business needs.

The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting
of four executive Directors and three Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The Board of the Company comprises the following
Directors:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Li Jialin Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer
Mr. Tay Eng Hoe
Mr. Ong Wei Hiam
(Appointed on
23 October 2008)
Mr. Chan Hoi Chau
(Appointed on

2 July 2009)

(Vice Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ni Zhenwei Member of Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee

Dr. Chan Po Fun Peter Chairman of Audit Committee
and member of
Remuneration Committee

Mr. Li Wei Member of Audit Committee
and Chairman of

Remuneration Committee

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in
all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three Independent Non-executive Directors with at least
one Independent Non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise.
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The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each Independent Non-executive Directors of his
independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all Independent Non-
executive Directors to be independent in accordance with
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range
of technical, business and financial expertise, experiences
and independent judgement to the Board. Through their
active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflict of interests
and serving on Board committees, all Independent Non-
executive Directors make various contributions to the
effective direction of the Company.

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors
The Company has established formal, considered and
transparent procedures for the appointment and succession
planning of Directors.

Mr. Li Jialin has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of two years commencing from 9 May
2002 and expiring on 8 May 2004, renewable automatically
for successive years of one year each commmencing from the
day immediately after the expiry of the then current term of
the service agreement, unless terminated by not less than 3
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.
Mr. Tay Eng Hoe, appointed as an Executive Director by the
board on 17 January 2008, was re-elected as an Executive
Director at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 19 August 2008. Mr. Ong Wei Hiam and Mr. Chan Hoi
Chau were appointed by the board as Executive Directors
of the Company on 23 October 2008 and 2 July 2009
respectively.

Under the service agreements, the initial annual emoluments of
each executive Director is fixed and the remuneration payable
to each of them will be reviewed by the Board each year.

The independent non-executive Directors are also appointed
by the board but subject to re-election or retirement by
rotation at each annual general meeting as appropriate.
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Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, all
Directors will be subject to retirement by rotation once every
three years and any new Directors appointed to fill a causal
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/
herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after appointment. Pursuant to Articles 86 of the
Company’s articles of association, Mr. Ong Wei Hiam and
Mr. Chan Hoi Chau will retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. In accordance with Article 87 of the
Company'’s articles of association, Mr. Ni Zhenwei will retire
from office and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Training for Directors

Each of the newly appointed Directors receives
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first
occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/
she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and that he/she is fully aware
of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing
continuing briefing and professional development to
Directors whenever necessary.
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Board Meetings

Directors’ Attendance and Number of Meetings
The attendance of Directors at Board meetings held during
the year under review is set out below:

Exgez

EFELEIGAREHRE
RAEEFE  EFHFEFSERIBERIHTILT

Attendance/Number BT

Directors of Meetings = 2BXY
Executive Directors PTES
Mr. Li Jialin 5/5 FEMEE 5/5
Mr. Tay Eng Hoe 5/5 Tay Eng Hoe 54 5/5
Mr. William Choo William Choo 5t 4

(Resigned on 31 December 2008) 4/4 (RZZEENF+A=1+—HEE) 4/4
Mr. Ong Wei Hiam Eﬁkﬁf‘ﬁi

(Appointed on 23 October 2008) 4/4 (RZZTZN\F+A-+=HEZME) 4/4
Mr. Chan Hoi Chau ﬁ%/&)llf‘ai

(Appointed on 2 July 2009) ~/- (RZZEZTNFA-AEEZT) —/-
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Mr. Ni Zhenwei 4/5 RIRERE 4/5
Dr. Chan Po Fun Peter 5/5 PRESEL 5/5
Madam Hui Hiu Fai STRERE 27+

(Resigned on 19 August 2008) 1/1 (R=ZZZENFENATHAEBT) 1/1
Mr. Li Wei 5/5 FEEE 5/5
Practices and Conduct of Meetings 2B MR TA
Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting BEXEH FEJ%&}K@E*ZEE%E%& BIELEDETE
are normally made available to Directors in advance. Notices F-EFEERBRENERBFAIRETARESES -

of Board meetings are served to all Directors in accordance
with the Code before the meetings.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information are sent to all Directors
at least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee
meeting to keep the Directors appraised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and
each Directors also have separate and independent access
to the senior management whenever necessary.
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The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the Company attend all regular Board
meetings and when necessary, other committee meetings to
advise on business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and
other major aspects of the Company.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are
kept by the Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’
inspection.

According to the current Board practice, any material
transaction, which involves a conflict of interests for a
substantial shareholder or a Director, will be considered
and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board
meeting. The Company’s articles of association also contain
provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and
not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established two committees, namely
the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All
Board committees of the Company are established with
defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of
the Board committees are available upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
Independent Non-executive Directors and the list of the
Chairman and members of each Board committee is set out
under “Composition” of this report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors (including one independent non-
executive Director who possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise). None of the members of the Audit
Committee are a former partner of the Company’s existing
external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the
following:

(@  To review the accounts and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the qualified
accountant, compliance officer or external auditors
before submission to the Board.

(b)  To review the relationship with the external auditors
by reference to the work performed by the auditors,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year
under review to review the financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures, and the re-
appointment of the external auditors.
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The attendance of individual members at Audit Committee ERELFEZREZEESERBRENMT -
meetings is set out below:
Attendance/Number HFE, BT
of Meetings SRRE
Dr. Chan Po Fun Peter (Chairman) 3/3 PRESE L (£E) 3/3
Mr. Ni Zhenwei 2/3 RBIRELAE 2/3
Madam Hui Hiu Fai FTEEIE A+
(Resigned on 19 August 2008) 1/1 (RZZEENFENATEHE) 1/1
Mr. Li Wei 3/3 RS A 3/3
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There is no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the
Audit Committee regarding the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of external auditors.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 March
2009 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee
include establishing a formal and transparent procedure
for fixing the remuneration of the executive Directors and
for fixing the remuneration packages of all the Directors
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee is
also responsible for ensuring the remuneration packages
are sufficient to attract and retain the Directors for running
the Company successfully; avoiding over-paying and that
no Directors or any of his/her associates will participate in
deciding his/her own remuneration. The remuneration will be
determined by reference to the performance of the individual
and the Company as well as market practice and conditions.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets by the end
of each year for reviewing the policy, structure and related
matters of the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management. The human resources
department is responsible for collection and administration
of the human resources data and making recommendations
to the Remuneration Committee for consideration. The
Remuneration Committee will consult the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer about their recommendations
on remuneration policy, structure and related matters of
remuneration packages.
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One Remuneration Committee meeting has been held
during the year under review to review (a) whether
the remuneration package of the directors and senior
management are reasonable; (b) the basis of the
remuneration package, i.e. qualification, working experience
and market level of comparable position etc. to see whether
any improvements needed to be made.

The attendance of individual members at Remuneration
Committee meeting is set out below:

REEFEAN  FHEESC BT —Re3  BH@@EF

BRAEEBZHFNGBRESEIE  O)FMTBZEE
B - TR TS LR & BB 2 5Bk F - 2
HEREF L ERNE -

ERBHEFMEZE @SR ZBERETIIT

Attendance/Number HfE, BT

of Meetings BRI

Mr. Li Wei (Chairman) 1/1 IS () 11
Mr. Ni Zhenwei 11 RIRESAE 1/1
Dr. Chan Po Fun Peter 1/1 PR E 1/1

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the year from 1 April 2008 to 31
March 2009.

The Company has also established written guidelines
on terms no less exacting than the Model Code (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities transactions
by employees.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE ACCOUNTS
AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of annual and
interim reports, price-sensitive announcements and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2009.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the accounts is set
out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.

The Company’s external auditors are KPMG. The
Group was charged approximately HK$4,881,000 and
HK$494,000 by KPMG for auditing and non-auditing
services respectively for the year ended 31 March 2009.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate
internal control system to safeguard shareholder
investments and the Company’s assets, and reviewing the
effectiveness of such on a semi-annual basis through the
Audit Committee.

The Company has maintained a tailored governance
structure with defined lines of responsibility and appropriate
delegation of responsibility and authority to the senior
management.

The management of the Company is responsible for
establishing the Group’s internal control framework,
covering all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance controls. The internal control framework
also provides for identification and management of risk.

The management also conducts periodic independent
reviews on the operations of individual divisions to identify
any irregularities and risks, develops action plans and
recommendations to address the identified risks, and
reports to the Audit Committee on any key findings. The
Audit Committee, in turn, reports to the Board on any
material issues and makes recommendations to the Board.
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The Directors have conducted an annual review of the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staffing of the financial reporting function as well as the
oversight role of the audit committee and consider that the
existing internal control system of the Group is effective and
adequate.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The rights of the Company’s shareholders at shareholders’
meetings are contained in the Company’s articles of
association. Details of such rights are included in all circulars
despatched to the shareholders of the Company and shall
be explained during the proceedings of meetings.

The general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for communication between the shareholders
and the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as
chairmen of the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee, or in their absence, other members of
the respective committees, and where applicable, the
independent Board committee, are available to answer
questions at the shareholders’ meetings.

Separate resolutions are to be proposed at shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual Directors.

The Company continues to enhance communications
and relationships with its investors. Designated senior
management maintain regular dialogue with institutional
investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the
Company’s developments. Enquiries from investors are
dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains a website at www.vst.com.hk, where extensive
information and updates on the Company’s business
developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are
posted.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Jialin, aged 47, is one of the founders and Directors
of the Group and is the Company’s Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer and an Executive Director. He is the
director of VST Group Limited (BVI) and VST Computers
(H.K.) Limited respectively. Mr. Li is also the chairman
and non-executive director of ECS Holdings Limited, a
Singapore listed company. He is responsible for the overall
management and strategic positioning of the Group. Mr. Li
graduated from Tsinghua University of the People’s Republic
of China with a Degree of Bachelor of Engineering in 1983
and a Master Degree in Management Engineering in 1986.

Mr. TAY Eng Hoe, aged 57, is the Company’s Vice
Chairman and Executive Director. He joined our Company
on 17 January 2008. He is also the group Chief Executive
Officer of our subsidiary company, ECS Holdings Limited
(“ECS”), a public listed company on the main board of
the Singapore Stock Exchange. He is the founder of the
ECS Group and brings with him more than 25 years of
experience in the IT business. Mr. Tay was conferred the
Public Services Medal by the President of the Republic of
Singapore in recognition of his public services to the country
of Singapore. He holds a Bachelor degree in Science
(Honours) from the LaTrobe University and a Master degree
in Business Administration from the University of Melobourne.

Mr. ONG Wei Hiam, aged 37, is the Group’s Chief Financial
Officer and Executive Director. He holds a Bachelor Degree
in Economics from University College London and a Master
Degree in Analysis, Design & Management of Information
Systems from the London School of Economics and Political
Science. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, and Fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Ong served in a senior position
at PricewaterhouseCoopers and has extensive working
experience in London and Hong Kong.
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EENARWEBRE

Mr. CHAN Hoi Chau, aged 39, is the Company’s
Executive Director. He holds a Bachelor Degree in Electrical
Engineering from the University of Wisconsin-Madison in
the United States of America. Mr. Chan has over 15 years
of experience in personal computer and semiconductor
industry. Mr. Chan is currently the Vice President of sales
of VST Computers (H.K.) Limited (“VST Computers”), an
indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Prior to
joining the Company in May 2005, Mr. Chan served as the
Distribution Director of Advanced Micro Devices and was in
charge of the distribution business in China and Hong Kong.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. NI Zhenwei, aged 72, has taught in Tsinghua University
for more than 38 years. Mr. Ni graduated from Tsinghua
University in 1959, majoring in mechanical engineering.
Since then, he taught in Tsinghua University. In 1987, Mr.
Ni obtained his qualification as an associate researcher
in Tsinghua University. He retired in 1996. Mr. Ni was
appointed by the Group on 1 June 2004 as an Independent
Non-executive Director. He also serves as a member of audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company.

Dr. CHAN Po Fun Peter BBS, MBE, JP, FHKICPA, FCPA
(Aust.), aged 87, practised accountancy in Hong Kong
for 60 years. He has a doctorate in Offshore Petroleum
Technology and Modern Chinese Law and is an honorary
fellow of the Society for Underwater Technology. Dr. Chan
is a trustee of Hong Kong Shue Yan University (also as its
Research Professor) and the United College of Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He was the Chairman of the
Kowloon Stock Exchange, a founding Director of The Hong
Kong Stock Exchange Limited and has served three terms
as the Chairman of the former Hong Kong Federation of
Stock Exchanges. Dr. Chan has been appointed by the
Group since 16 April 2005 as an Independent Non-executive
Director. He also serves as the Chairman of audit committee
and a member of remuneration committee of the Company.
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Mr. LI Wei, aged 53, was educated in the PRC, Germany
and Australia. He has had over 20 years of experience in
establishing and operating businesses in Asia, particularly
in Hong Kong and the PRC. Mr. Li has previously served as
the Managing Director of a number of listed companies in
Hong Kong. Mr. Li has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company with effect from
11 August 2007. He also serves as the chairman of
remuneration committee and a member of audit committee
of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LUNG Cheuk Wah, aged 58, is the company secretary
of the Company and is responsible for the company
secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Lung is a fellow
member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in the United Kingdom; a fellow member
of The Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries; and
an associate member of The Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. Mr. Lung is a doctoral candidate in the Doctor
of Business Administration program of the Murdoch
University, Australia. He is also awarded a Master Degree
in Business Administration by the University of East Asia
(currently known as Macau University). Mr. Lung’s working
experience includes 4 years statutory audit in an international
accounting firm and around 15 years in senior positions
comprising internal audit, accounting and financing in the
commercial sector. He joined the Group in November 2002.
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The directors (the “Directors”) of VST Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) are pleased to present their annual report
together with the audited accounts of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the distribution of
information technology (“IT”) products and provider of
enterprise systems and IT services.

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note
8 to the accounts.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The largest customer for the year ended 31 March 2009
represented approximately 5.2% (2008: approximately 6%)
of the Group’s total turnover, and the combined total of the
five largest customers accounted for approximately 9.2%
(2008: approximately 17%) of the Group’s total turnover for
the year under review.

In addition, the largest supplier for the year ended 31
March 2009 represented approximately 41.8% (2008:
approximately 34%) of the Group’s total purchases, and
the combined total of the five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 67.5% (2008: approximately 80%) of the
Group’s total purchases for the year under review.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers noted above.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009
are set out in the consolidated profit and loss account on
page 48.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year of HK83.8 cents per ordinary share (2008: Nil).
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in note 16 to the
accounts.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 5 to the accounts.

BORROWINGS
Particulars of the Group’s borrowings are set out in note 19
to the accounts.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 14 to the accounts.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2009, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HK$175,000,000
(2008: approximately HK$217,000,000). In addition, the
Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
approximately HK$623,000,000 (2008: approximately
HK$623,000,000), may be distributed in the form of fully
paid bonus shares in accordance with the Companies Law
(revised) of the Cayman Islands.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and there is no restriction
against such rights under the Companies Law (revised) of
the Cayman Islands.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
140.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
From 12 December 2008 to 9 January 2009, the Company
purchased 26,428,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
of the Company at prices between HK$0.44 to HK$0.57
per share on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The
purchase involved a total cash outlay of approximately
HK$13,270,000. The repurchased shares were cancelled
and accordingly the issued share capital of the Company
was reduced by the nominal value of those shares.

SHARE OPTIONS

Under the terms of the Company’s share option scheme
approved by the shareholders on 17 April 2002 (the
“Share Option Scheme”), the Board of Directors may, at its
discretion, invite employees (including both full time and part
time employees, and executive Directors), non-executive
Directors, suppliers, customers and other corporations or
individuals that provide support to the Group (as defined in
the Share Option Scheme) to take up options to subscribe
for shares in the Company. The maximum number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme may not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company. The scheme became effective upon
the listing of the Company’s shares on 9 May 2002. Up to
the date of this report, 5,000,000 option shares have been
granted to a Director at an exercise price of HK$0.54 per
share under the Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of the companies comprising the group,
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debenture of, the Company or any other body
corporate and none of the Directors, their spouses or their
children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for
the securities of the Company, or had exercised any such
right during the year.
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The Directors of the Company who held office during the
year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Li Jialin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. William Choo (Resigned on 31 December 2008)
Mr. Tay Eng Hoe

Mr. Ong Wei Hiam (Appointed on 23 October 2008)
Mr. Chan Hoi Chau (Appointed on 2 July 2009)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ni Zhenwei

Dr. Chan Po Fun Peter

Madam Hui Hiu Fai (Resigned on 19 August 2008)
Mr. Li Wei

According to Article 86 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Ong Wei Hiam and Mr. Chan Hoi Chau,
appointed by the Board on 23 October 2008 and 2 July
2009 respectively, shall hold office until the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible,
offer himself for re-election.

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Ni Zhenwei will retire by rotation and being
eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The Company confirms that it
has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Company considers
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Jialin has entered into service agreements with the
Company for a term of two years commencing from 9 May
2002 and expiring on 8 May 2004, renewable automatically
for successive years of one year each commencing from the
day immediately after the expiry of the then current term of
the service agreement, unless terminated by not less than 3
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.
Mr. Tay Eng Hoe, appointed as an Executive Director by the
board on 17 January 2008, was re-elected as an executive
Director at the annual general meeting on 17 August 2008.
Mr. Ong Wei Hiam and Mr. Chan Hoi Chau were appointed
by the board as Executive Directors of the Company on 23
October 2008 and 2 July 2009 respectively.

Under the service agreements, the annual emoluments
of each executive Director is fixed and the remuneration
payable to each of them will be reviewed by the Board of
Directors each year.

Non-executive Directors

The independent non-Executive Directors are appointed by
the board but subject to re-election or retirement by rotation
at each annual general meeting as appropriate.

Save as disclosed above, no Director has an unexpired
service contract which is not terminable by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of the companies
comprising the Group was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year under
review.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of directors and senior
management are set out on pages 25 to 27.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2009, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which would have to be
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and/or short
positions of which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) and/or required to be entered in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or which would have to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing
Rules were as follows:

EERITRABRRD - HRAROREXRRS 2EER

HR

R-ZZEZNF=A=+—H0 ARAEEFRITRERNAK
RAREEAEEER (E& R ES BRI (FEEM
F671E) ([FBHFRAEMD]) FEXVER) 2Bty - HHEED
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Approximate
percentage of
issued share
capital of the

Company/
associated
Company/name company
of associated =N
Name of corporation Number and class BEEE
Director ¥ NN Capacity of securities BRITRAZ
EEpnA HEEE AR 4 EHHEREH BHEs L
Mr. Li Jialin Company Beneficial owner 55,146,000 ordinary shares, 5.05%
Long position
FEMEE ZAN/N EnEAA 55,146,000 A% & i AR 5.05%
rAE
Company Interest of a controlled 241,500,000 ordinary shares 22.13%
corporation Long position (Note 1)
RN REthEEER 241,500,000 A% & i ik 22.13%

RR(MiE1)
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Approximate
percentage of
issued share
capital of the

Company/
associated
Company/name company
of associated SR
Name of corporation Number and class A
Director AAT Capacity of securities BRITRAZ
EEHE HEEEER 514 EHEHA RER BHBESH
Company Family interest 166,000,000 ordinary shares 15.21%
Long position (Note 2)
/NG K 166,000,000 % & i@ % 15.21%
RE (KH:t2)
Mr. Ong Company Beneficial owner 88,000 ordinary shares 0.01%
Wei Hiam Long position
FEMTESE RAF] BB A 88,000 & & i % 0.01%
RAE
Dr. Chan Company Beneficial owner 640,000 ordinary shares 0.06%
Po Fun Peter Long position
PREZIEL ZAN/NG BEmEaA 640,000 % % i X 0.06%
59~}
Notes: Htat -
1. 241,500,000 shares of the Company are held by L & L Limited, 1. KA 241,500,000 A AD B L & L Limited 548 » ME&E 2250
the entire issued share capital of which is equally held by Mr. Li EETRARSTEMEE(RNRRER  TRERNAITES)
Jialin (the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and an Executive MEBRBRF ZT9ERE -
Director of the Company) and his spouse, Madam Liu Li.
2. 166,000,000 shares of the Company are held by Madam Liu Li, 2. FEMEE(RRBERE - TREHERNMTES) 2EBEFAL

the spouse of Mr. Li Jialin (the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Director of the Company).

+#E 42 7] 166,000,000 A% A% 15 °

On 20 February 2009, 5,000,000 option shares have been
granted to Mr. Tay Eng Hoe, an executive director of the

REZZFEZENF-ZA=+H EREBRESIRITEE
FROL4B LR T AR A #MITE FETay Eng Hoe & &
Company, at an exercise price of HK$0.54 per share under 5,000,000 % BER& HERR 15 -
the Share Option Scheme.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, none of
the Directors nor the chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would have to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and/or short positions of which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2009, so far is known to the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or a chief executive
of the Company) had an interest and/or a short position in
the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO and/or required to be entered in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO and/or were directly or indirectly interested
in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meeting of any other members of the Group:

B%tﬁ(ﬁﬁ%&aa%?l\v RZZZENF=A=1+—8 #HEX

RNEIEBHITHAEN AR B S EER =B (TERE
REAEGHIEXVER) 2 EMikt - BRAKRGHEBZEST
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AR 2 R S B (BB R B S KA E EHIE
S E ESR B A 2 s Rk, RE R ) SRR E HF R E
1601 58 352 ik 2 BB AZIGFT I B it M s iR 1B LR
Bl AR EFEITELF R ZMEETRIENE AN T R
RFFZERSTER °

IERREREMALTRBROREBES 2 BERER

Eé_g%?jli =t+—B BEERH ATALCER

T%%‘J@ﬂﬂl %JZ)B’\\$ A B An Ko,/ AR R A7 o
BIRIEEZ LB GRGIFEXVEBFE2 R 30 882 ESBRAR
AN R R HER K AR ARR AR
BES LB EIIEIB6 IKETF 2 BRM sk HE
BRI BRI R T RSB A H
B AR ZIRRAE LIREZ A AR AT B R %M
EHAEE10% A E 2 ks ¢

Approximate

Name of Number and class percentage

shareholder Capacity of securities of shareholding

BRRES 4 EE5HERER BHRETS

L&L Limited Beneficial owner 241,500,000 ordinary shares 22.13%
Long position (Note 1)

L&L Limited EnEAA 241,500,000 % & % 22.13%

R BZ1)
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Approximate

Name of Number and class percentage
shareholder Capacity of securities of shareholding
R A 5 % 8 E AR BRREES L
Liu Li Beneficial owner 166,000,000 ordinary shares 15.21%
Long position
2 BEEERA 166,000,000 % & % 15.21%
RE
Family interest 55,146,000 ordinary shares 5.05%
Long position (Note 2)
NI 55,146,000 i & i@ A% 5.05%
R& (H:t2)
Interest of a controlled 241,500,000 ordinary shares 22.13%
corporation Long position (Note 3)
RESEEE R 241,500,000 % & 3@ A% 22.13%
RB (#73)
Atlantis Investment Investment manager 111,285,333 ordinary shares 10.20%
Management Long position
Limited
Atlantis Investment REKIE 111,285,333 I & AR 10.20%
Management R
Limited
Eternal Asia (HK) Beneficial owner 264,533,332 ordinary shares 24.24%
Limited Long position (Note 4)
Eternal Asia (HK) BEHEBA 264,533,332 & & AKX 24.24%
Limited B (Hit4)
Y e TR Interest of a controlled 264,533,332 ordinary shares 24.24%
HIEGER D BRAF corporation Long position (Note 5)
ARYITI53EE ez ZNEll s o 264,533,332 % & iR 24.24%
HEERNBR AR &B (K1:t5)
RYITHEE & BUS Interest of a controlled 264,533,332 ordinary shares 24.24%
AR AT corporation Long position (Note 6)
RIYITHEE S B REGEE R 264,533,332 R Eimk 24.24%
ZERARAE && (H:t6)
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Approximate

Name of Number and class percentage
shareholder Capacity of securities of shareholding
R A 5 % 8 E AR BRREES L
Zhou Guohui Interest of a controlled 264,533,332 ordinary shares 24.24%
corporation Long position
JEIE 2 EEEHEE RS 264,533,332 % & @ A% 24.24%
&E
Zhang Qing Beneficial owner and interest 75,762,000 ordinary shares 6.94%
of a controlled corporation Long position (Note 8)
Zhang Qing BB ARSI TG EB R 75,762,000 A% & E AL 6.94%
&2 (M1sE8)
Potent Holdings Beneficial owner 67,620,000 ordinary shares 6.20%
Limited Long position (Note 8)
Potent Holdings EnEEA 67,620,000 % & i@ % 6.20%
Limited & (ffIzE8)
Notes: Kiat -
1. The entire issued share capital of L&L Limited is equally held 1, ARREFRTBBHETEREEREREBRNZEIHERE
by Mr. Li Jialin (the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the L&L Limited 2 2 &2 TR o
Company) and his spouse, Madam Liu Li.
2. 55,146,000 shares of the Company are held by Mr. Li Jialin (the 2. RA 7] 255,146,0000% B 15 BB BRI & + 2 BRBFEME L (KA
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an Executive Director of RIER  THAHEERTESR)EE -
the Company), the spouse of Madam Liu Li.
3. 241,500,000 shares of the Company are held by L & L Limited, 3. ARAA)Z 241,500,000 A B L & L Limited #3578 © ZARIZE
the entire issued share capital of which is equally held by Madam HEBETRARIF L L REX KT EMREE (ARBER - 17
Liu Li and her husband, Mr. Li Jialin (the Chairman, Chief BBHRIITESR) SR —F
Executive Officer and an Executive Director of the Company).
4. 100% of the shares of Eternal Asia (HK) Limited are held by ;&3 4. Eternal Asia (HK) Limited 2 2= #BR% 1 B2 & Y1 116 To @ FE 52 AR 17
meE Mt EER O ARAT. BRAFEFAE ©
5. 6.88% of the shares of &Y laTRBHEFERMNBRAF are 5. FINTE S RBREHEI B R A B RORYI TS SIS ER AR AR
owned by JRYITIEES FE BB R A 7] and 49.52% owned by SRR R TR R EERD BR AT 2 6.88% K& 49.52%
FYIT S BUSIER AR AR RS BRI BR AR is A1 o R EE & B RBHE AR A R 49.1% 2 & #E B 7 I B
49.1% owned by &I EH& G IER AR AT, BEIGIERERARHES °
6. 92.50% of the shares of ATk & EHIFAR AR A 7 are held 6. RINTH IS BB IR IR A IR A 72 92.50% R& 15 B BB 2 A 4%

by Mr. Zhou Guohui.

B e
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7. On 2 September 2008 and 12 September 2008, the Company
entered into two subscription agreements to issue 223,533,332
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at a price of HK$1.00 per share
to Eternal Asia (HK) Limited. The subscription agreements have
been approved by regulatory bodies in Hong Kong and the PRC
and are in the finalisation process. The approximate percentage
of shareholding calculated is based on as if the 223,533,332
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each had been in issue as of 31
March 2009.

8. 67,620,000 shares of the Company are held by Potent Holdings
Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is held by Mr.
Zhang Qing, a significant shareholder of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, so far is
known to the Directors, there was no person who had
an interest and/or a short position in the shares and/
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO and/or required to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO and/or was directly or indirectly interested in 10%
of more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meeting of any other members of the Group, or any options
in respect of such capital.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
The Directors consider that they have no interests in any
competing business.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

7. RZZEZNFENAZARZZEZENFNLATZA - ARFD 5|

TN AIBRE RS - IWRER1.00/8 T 2 E1& A Eternal Asia

(HK) Limited % 17 223,533,332 1% & & E E0.108 7T 2 & i

R ZERBHZCRBTARTHAEEHBEIELC TR

CHIMRBERE AL NERBIRN _ETNF=A=+—H
223,533,332 R FRAEE 0108t 2 LBRE BT EBE -

8. #%5567,620,000 % A A RIA 1% F Potent Holdings Limited# 4

ZARZEEETRABARF —HBEZLIR Zhang Qing £ 4
A e

BEXFREEN R_TFAF=_A=1T—H HE=
PAn > BEEALTRAR ‘]Zzﬂxﬁﬁli//ﬁk$ﬁEﬁﬂxﬁ%qﬂﬁﬁéiﬂi
ERESRHERPIEXVERE 2 R 3N B2 R BRAR
KBS P ER 2 e an &/ﬁh%&/ﬁﬁﬁk$ﬁﬂﬁﬁ
EHNBEGPEBKEF 2 BLM AR HER
&/&FWﬁ&m%TEEHIRT%ﬁEIEHEMﬁ
BRAZBRAG ERE 2RI B KRR
BEE10% A £ 2 R skA B 2 TR AR -

EENRE R %
B AR B TF S0 s -

EEEHN
REARET LS FEER AR 2HBREMNERT S E
BERERITBOITEZ A/
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into a lease agreement
with Joint Honour Development Limited (“Joint Honour”),
a company in which Mr. Li Jialin is a major shareholder,
in respect of a director quarter. Pursuant to the lease
agreement, the Group paid a monthly rental of HK$200,000
to Joint Honour for a term of 12 months from 1 April 2008 to
31 March 2009.

The above transaction constituted a connected transaction
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors are
of the opinion that the above transaction was entered into
on normal commercial terms and at an arm’s length basis
and is fair and reasonable so far as the shareholders of the
Company, taken as a whole, are concerned. The above
connected transaction constituted an exempted connected
transaction under the Listing Rules as each of the applicable
percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) is less than
0.1% under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

A summary of the Directors and senior management’s
emoluments is set out in note 29 to the accounts.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year under
review.

BERXS

FR - AREBEE Joint Honour Development Limited ([ Joint
Honourl) (ZEMEERBZARIEEZRE)—HESES
I —IEMEE W - BEBEMEERZE - A% E M Joint Honour
Xt AM200,00087% A—TTN\FOA-BARE_-T
ZNF=ZA=+—HI - BH12EA -

RIEETRAF14AE LR FERAERS - EFR
B PR SR BEEER IR A FEREERY - I
MEBRMmME  WARRIBRRAFAE - RIELTRA - £
MEAER SR ERCEERS  BASHERESLECE
FIEBRINER ETRAE 14AZIRTEZ0.1% ©

EEREREEE 25
EENEREEE 2 EHNRE M2 -
ABFEREZTEMS

ERARAA ARESCEMAUREESMAA - ARFIE
REBEFEEFET RN ARTRE -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee on 17
April 2002 with written terms of reference in compliance with
the Code of Corporate Governance Practices as set out in
the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit committee
are to review and supervise the Group’s internal control
and financial reporting process including the interim and
annual accounts before recommending them to the Board
of Directors for approval. The Company’s audited results
for the year ended 31 March 2009 have been reviewed
by the audited committee who was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and requirements and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration
committee on 29 September 2005 consisting of three
Independent Non-executive Directors with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices of the Listing Rules. The primary
duties of the remuneration committee regarding the
remuneration of directors and senior management include
making remuneration recommendations, determining
the specific remuneration packages, reviewing and
approving performance-based remuneration, termination
compensation, dismissal or removal compensation
arrangements, and ensuring that no director or any of his
associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year of HKS3.8 cents per ordinary share (2008: Nil).

BEREES

AREEREMRAMBEEERER TR R2FT =
FHUATEERUBZZE S  UERMSAEEBESRE -
ERZBRZIERBREHREEARENAIEER
Msmmier (BRERXESSIENMEN T B RFER
B) - ARABE_ZTZENF=A=+—HIFEZEEX
RXECHERZESREMN  BERRECRRRFTRELR
HNAERZ G A MR EL DEHFMIE -

FMWEES

AREEREMRAMBEEERFRTR  R=FFR
FLAAZTNERIFHEZE S -  H=RBIUFNTES
MRk WERRTHBERE  FHEZESETERAE
EREZRRAETEE 2HFMRELFNES ETARK
M8 - BRMUEARR SRR 2 HM - RILERE - ##
BHERBELS  RERESFIETABREALTES
ELE B HRE

RIS
EEZAAFEIRN KRR SHRERBKRISEIN(ZF
TNEFE|E) -
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EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 18 June 2009, the Directors announced the proposed
spin-off of ECS ICT Bhd, a company incorporated under
the laws of Malaysia and a subsidiary of the Company, for
separate listing on Main Board of Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad in Malaysia by way of an initial public offering. For
this purpose, ECS ICT Bhd has submitted the application
for the proposed listing of its shares to the Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad. As at the date of this report, the
application is in the process of being approved by the Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad.

AUDITORS

The accounts of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2009 have been audited by KPMG who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Li Jialin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 10 July 2009

FERBEE

RZZEZAFNA+TN\B  EZEHEEDIFAQFN B
AAIECS ICT Bhd (—fARIEH KA AE M 2 A
FAABBE R ARMBITESRALR ZAERBL L -
BULME - ECS ICT BhdEMERALESFERLZES
FEERMD LT - RAREAE BRAGDZFEREE
GIEERLERE

=D
AEEHZE_ZTNF=A=+—HBILFEZREELKE
SEEMEBMER  BENARRRERRBFRS
HREAFTAEEE T AGE

REREFE
FIERTTEBARE,
FEM

&% FEAFLATA
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF VST HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated accounts of VST Holdings
Limited (“the Company”) set out on pages 44 to 139, which
comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets
as at 31 March 2009, and the consolidated profit and loss
account, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
ACCOUNTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
accounts in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility
includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of accounts that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

HEAERERARIMIRROB L ZBEIRE
(RESEEZMA LA BHRLF])

A BED A FETR R BB RIIRAE 44 F 180 EfE
HERERAR ([ RAR]) WEARE  IHEAKE 21F
R-BBAF=A=t-BMEARANEERBRER
ERALFEOBARSE  BABREDRARBAR
SRBME - UREB S HRBE R MRS -

ESRREAREZERE

BERAERARERBEEESTMASHEMNTBYHER
SEARBREB(RREIDNBRERERENLEEN A
TPz ERE - SEERER  BekEERFH
REEMA T HRER B BB AEES - AERE 7
FEHREFFRERMERNERERERM : EENERE
EOEGEHEEK - MRER TEH A B EFHEE

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009  {2{HIZREMRAT = 2009 Fif



Independent Auditor’s Report & % HEf R &

43

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these accounts
based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
accounts are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
accounts. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the accounts, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true
and fair presentation of the accounts in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the accounts.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated accounts give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 March 2009 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Charter Road

Central, Hong Kong

10 July 2009
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As at 31 March 2009 R=—ZZAF=A=+—H

2009 2008
—EEAE —ZETNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
5T FHExT T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - R MR 5 58,325 58,783
Goodwill EES 6 298,189 316,291
Interest in an associate i /NS oL 10 38,561 37,608
Available-for-sale financial assets A HE S A E 7 1,545 18,621
Deferred tax assets BETIRE = 18 26,959 17,281
423,579 448,584
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables E 5 N E MW EIE 11 2,881,261 2,927,159
Inventories 78 12 1,146,599 1,407,112
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREEEY 13 303,572 312,814
4,331,432 4,647,085
Total assets HWEE 4,755,011 5,095,669
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable AATEREFEA
to the equity shareholders B2 ERR #iE
of the Company
Share capital &N 14 109,124 111,767
Reserves B 16 986,118 994,140
Proposed dividend BT S 27 41,500 =
1,136,742 1,105,907
Minority interest DR RER 214,550 83,667
Total equity AR 1,351,292 1,189,574
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As at 31 March 2009 R=—ZZAF=A=+—H

2009 2008
—EEAE —ZETNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
5T FEx T
LIABILITIES af&
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred income FEIEU A 4,978 4,783
Borrowings BE 19 549,992 351,519
Deferred tax liabilities BIEFIEAE 18 4,954 3,817
559,924 360,119
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 M EMERFRIE 17 2,178,769 1,825,240
Borrowings gE 19 653,363 1,666,911
Taxation payable JERTTRIE 11,663 30,158
Other financial liabilities at fair value BEAFEYABRE
through profit or loss HHEMI B A G 20 - 23,667
2,843,795 3,545,976
Total liabilities FEN=RE 3,403,719 3,906,095
Total equity and liabilities EERaEEE 4,755,011 5,095,669
Net current assets REEEFE 1,487,637 1,101,109
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBARS 1,911,216 1,549,693

On behalf of the Board REREZE

Li Jialin Tay Eng Hoe
ZEM

Director Director

EFE EF

The notes on pages 52 to 139 are an integral part of these F52E 139 B 2 MR AR ERE 2 —H5 °
consolidated accounts.
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As at 31 March 2009 R=—ZZAF=A=+—H

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Prepayments
Taxation recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable
to the equity shareholders of
the Company
Share capital
Reserves
Proposed dividend

Total equity

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009

aE
FRBEE
RSB AT ZIRE

REBEE
FEU P B X Bl 3RIR
BNHIR
AU B 7R
RelBReEHED

HEE

Rz
KARERFEA
sz EX K #E

EEEN
BURALS

s

2009 2008

—EEhEF —EE)N\F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
5T FET T
5 - 71
8 1,302,057 1,410,672
1,302,057 1,410,743

137,397 335,688

11 222 375
1,477 1,218

13 1,539 363
140,635 337,644

1,442,692 1,748,387

14 109,124 111,767
16 761,640 840,346
27 41,500 -
912,264 952,113
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As at 31 March 2009 R=—ZZAF=A=+—H

2009 2008
—EEAE —ZETNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
5T FHExT T
LIABILITIES af&
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Borrowings e 19 198,000 =
198,000 -
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals Eoh e 5RI8 K FEET SR IE 17 200,428 19,874
Borrowings gE 19 132,000 776,400
332,428 796,274
Total liabilities HEE 530,428 796,274
Total equity and liabilities EzkEERE 1,442,692 1,748,387
Net current liabilities REEEFEE (191,793) (458,630)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABEE 1,110,264 952,113

On behalf of the Board REREZE

Li Jialin Tay Eng Hoe
ZEM

Director Director

EFE EFE

The notes on pages 52 to 139 are an integral part of these E52F2 130 H v M BGEERA 2 — 8D °
consolidated accounts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 ##E —ZZNF=H=+—HILFE

Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit
Other gains, net
Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses
Operating profit

Finance costs

Share of profit/(loss) of an associate

Profit before taxation

Taxation
Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company
Minority interest

Dividends attributable to equity shareholders
Final dividend proposed

Earnings per share (HK cents per share)
— Basic

— Diluted

—E
SHERA
EF

HAb W A58

T
]

fT5E R

Notes

B aE

21

22

23

24

DIREE R RNER, (BE) 10

B BATEF
BR
PRI
A

25

AR A

DB R s

it A ARERE

B R HARLE

27

A GBI B 28

—&AK
—#F

The notes on pages 52 to 139 are an integral part of these

consolidated accounts.
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2009 2008
—EEAFE  —TENF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHT TET
22,091,272 12,350,522

(21,041,809)

(11,681,141)

1,049,463 669,381
12,497 27,537
(395,350) (168,116)
(260,258) (154,259)
406,352 374,543
(93,094) (44,587)
313,258 329,956
5,156 (693)
318,414 329,263
(56,605) (69,710)
261,809 259,553
231,624 244,743
30,185 14,810
261,809 259,553
41,500 =
20.85 cents 23.99 cents
20.85 cents 23.99 cents

F52E 139 B ZMEBRAGARAEZ 87 °
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 8= —ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

Equity

attributable

to the

Company’s

equity

share-

Reserves holders  Minority

Share  (Note 16) Retained Proposed KAF  interest Total
capital fifs  ecamings dividends ERHHA DE equity
BE& (i) REERN RERE  EEEE RREE 28R
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
Tén TEr TEr TEnr TEr TEr  TEn

Balance at 1 April 2007 RIZZHEMA-Bz&ER 93,167 91565 191504 42857 419093 - 419,093
Exchange difference EiEE - 52352 353 - 52705 5781 58486
Profit for the year ERRA - - 264743 - 44743 14810 250553
Acquisition of additional interest in RS R B A R B M

a subsidiary from minority shareholders - (111,790) - - (111,790) (518,094  (629,844)
Disposal of avaiable-for-sale EAHHENKAE

financial assets - (2,467) - - (2,467) - (2,467)
Changes in fair value of AN BEELTERD

available-for-sale financial assets - (6,327) - - (5,327) - (6,327)
Issue of ordinary shares (Note 14) BBk 14) 18600 533207 - - 551807 - 551807
Transfer of reserves ERGEE - 4426 (4420) - = - -
2007 final divicend paid ZETLERENRERE - - - ([42857)  (42.857) - (42,857)
Acquisition of subsidaries WKEmB A - - - - - 581130 581,130
Balance at 31 March 2008 RZZTN\EZA=T-H2E8 111,767 561,966 432,174 - 1105907 83667 1,189,574
Balance at 1 April 2008 RZZZN\FMA—-A 286 111,767 561,966 432,174 - 1,105907 83667 1,189,574
Exchange difference ERER - (16252 - - (16252  (8346) (84598
Profit for the year FEREH - - 231624 - 231624 30,185 261,809
Acquisition of additional interest n a R EIR R R B A R B M

subsidiary from minority shareholders - (14484 - - (14,484 (123 (14,557)
Disposal of interest in a subsidiary HERBATEET YRR

to minority interest - (104,138) - - (104,138) 109,167 5,029
Equity-settled share-based payment EREENRNT N HE - 1978 = - 1978 - 198
Disposal of avaiable-for-sale EAHHENKAE

financial assets - 5,327 - - 5,327 - 5,327
Share repurchased (Note 14) BERD (Wit 14)

- par value -EfE (2,643) - - - 268 - (2649

~ premium paid -BE4E - - (10,627) - (10,627) - (10627)

~ transfer between reserves -~ e - 268 2649 - - - -
Transfer of reserves ERGEE - 4757 (475]) - - - -
Balance at 31 March 2009 RZETNEZA=T-A2E8 109,124 381,847 645,771 - 1,136,742 214550 1,351,292

The notes on pages 52 to 139 are an integral part of these F52E 139 B 2 iR AGFEIRE 2 — 885 o
consolidated accounts.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement %8R E€RE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #Z =—ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

L

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash generated from operations
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Overseas tax paid

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Decrease in pledged bank deposits

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Purchase of available-for-sale
financial assets

Dividend income from available-for-sale
financial assets

Proceeds from disposal of
available-for-sale financial assets

Proceeds from disposal of partial
interest in a subsidiary

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of
cash acquired

Acquisition of additional interest in
a subsidiary

Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities
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REXG RETRE
REEXBEE 2R FH
ENEBMEH
EREIMNAIR

e EBS,/ (FTA)
ZIREHER

RELSZBRERE
EHFLE
BEYE  BEER

EEMRITI ORI
HEWE - BB R
RIS FR

BEREAHHEEMBEE

A SHE M B AR YA

HETHHENBEE
FR1§30R

HEME AR s
FR1S3R

W B R
(FERFTBAZRE)

W B Rl AR ME 2

KEEBME/ ()
LB G

Notes

B aE

31(b)
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2009 2008
—2B2hE  —TI)\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
810,013 32,816
(30,983) (51,773)
(54,372) (20,708)
724,658 (39,665)
7,030 5,573
(21,546) (7,182)
- 10,000

1,060 576

- (20,000)

- 2,967

14,138 12,305
78,642 -

- (541,481)
(14,557) (629,844)
64,767 (1,167,086)
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2009 2008
—EThEF —EENF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaE FET FAT
Cash flows from financing activities BMEFB2RETRE
Dividends paid ERERE - (42,857)
Repurchase of shares BB EIARD (13,270) -
Advances from proposed share EERMHBELEFTE R
placements 17(a) 121,767 -
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary BT E BARFTS IR F 5
shares - 551,807
New bank borrowings GRITIEE 4,353,707 2,169,428
Repayment of bank borrowings BERTEE (5,147,467) (1,225,987)
Interest paid BERFE (91,786) (44,587)
Net cash (used in)/generated BMEES (FTA), Bz
from financing activities & FE (777,049) 1,407,804
Net increase in cash and ReERREEEY
cash equivalents N FEE 12,376 201,053
Cash and cash equivalents at the FYI2RERREEEY
beginning of year 305,042 113,926
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EREE) e (25,183) (9,937)
Cash and cash equivalents FR2BASRREEEY
at the end of year 13 292,235 305,042

The notes on pages 52 to 139 are an integral part of these F52F 139 B 2B AL ERE 72— -
consolidated accounts.
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VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009

GENERAL INFORMATION

VST Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the distribution of information technology
(“IT”) products, provider of enterprise systems and T
services.

The Company is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Its principal place
of business is at Unit 1901, 19th Floor, West Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

These consolidated accounts are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (HK$’000), unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated accounts have
been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on
10 July 2009.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated accounts are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

—fRER
BrERERAR(ART ) REKBAD (58
EX T DFEs£3 700 e o
% 2GR A MR o

AARREFRSHESEMNLZBRAF - HXT B
EEMBAB A THET 168K ERPLAR19E
1901 %

ARABMREEBERZAERAR (TBM])
ERET

BRIERBHAN REERBAUATETZY - A4
ERACNR_ZFETNFLATAREFTSIETIH -

ETESHBERBE

FRAGABRARMNZEEZRIBERINT « B
ERAHBI - RS BEEHEURALES
B -

BAERERAE = 2009 F£3)]
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated accounts of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (HKFRSs), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These consolidated accounts also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The consolidated accounts have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial
assets and other financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss which are carried
at fair value.

The preparation of accounts in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated accounts, are disclosed in Note 4.

The HKICPA has issued the following new
Interpretations and an amendment to HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company:

o HK(IFRIC) 12, Service concession
arrangements

o HK(IFRIC) 14, HKAS 19 — The limit
on a defined benefit asset, minimum
funding requirements and their interaction

2

FESHHRERE(Z)
21 wEEEHZE

ARRZFARBREBEMAEEREEMBR
SERA(BBMBHRELEN D RE - £1EFA
SRR AE ([BASEMAR)) B 2 AEE
AERZBARBREEN  FEGHOAE
Bz BEAGTER(EBGT L) ka2
2 FRLRETRAUREE(ARGRIDZR
E e RERENMNEBEERARSMERAT
Em EHARRT EHRA D @RI WERE
RAREDRBELKAEER - WERIAR
FEIIR T HEEMHEERRAFEIIA
BaRnEaMBEERABZEHNGHEFD

1T -

EREEMBRELENRUKAAERETE
ZEFE RNTEREEEERAANEH
SETBERBRT LA - F RS HE e
HEEIRILAEAHEAREBEAZ &K
WERHIEES

BRSO EMUTZERARTE KK
REARTEFHEERER AT REREE
MBS mEEANER]

c FA(BRMEHREREZRES) -REF
1255 - RIEAE L EZHE

c FA(BRMEHREREZRES) -RES
1458 - BB EAERE 195 — FREWEF
BERSE  RIEETHERAEGFHE
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHEHSESE)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.1 %F%E’E (; f‘ﬁ)
e  Amendment to HKAS 39, Financial BB EBEIRNEE /T

instruments: Recognition and
measurement, and HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: Disclosures — Reclassification
of financial assets

These HKFRS developments have had no
material impact on the Group’s accounts as
either they were consistent with accounting
policies already adopted by the Group or
they were not relevant to the Group’s and the
Company’s operations.

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated
accounts, the HKICPA has issued a number
of amendments, new standards and
interpretations which are not yet effective for
the year ended 31 March 2009 and which have
not been early adopted in these consolidated
accounts.

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standards and new
interpretations is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the Group’s results of operations
and financial position except for the following

A ERREGE URBEVEREE

RIB7SE 2@ TA  RE—-EFIEHY
BEE

I EFBMBRE LW EHAEER BB
EXFE  WIHANZEFEREAEE D RR
MEERR 3 REREERARBEHE
Fa -

RUtFELRARE TE A - BESFAS
ERHZEBE_TTNF=_A=T—HLLF
ERARERZIER] - FER R - il FeR
BRE WEIRRERMN o

RNEB AL FEET %ﬁﬁ’iﬁlJ&%?ﬁ%*%E’\%
RERARE R B E - 25 B H 2 &
AT FEET » BRI RETR T KA 8
HAEE 2 REXERVBMRRNEKEKRNT
2 T2 BERIN

developments:

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTEHS 2%
BzETHHBEX
HKAS 1 (revised 2007), Presentation of ERSERE 1 (ZETEEBETAN) 1 January 2009
financial statements Vg = e 0= —EThF—A—H
HKFRS 8, Operating segments BAUBIREERF IR AL 5ES 1 January 2009
—EZhF—H—H

Adoption of HKFRS 8 and HKAS 1 (revised N B B SRS R E 858 & g;%@;{% (]

2007) may result in new or amended disclosures
in the consolidated accounts including possible
restatement of comparative amounts in the first
period of adoption.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation

(@)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which
the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more
than one half of the voting rights. The
existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group controls
another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are de-consolidated from the
date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is
used to account for the acquisition of
subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an
acquisition is measured as the fair value
of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange, plus costs directly
attributable to the acquisition.

|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date, irrespective of the extent of any
minority interest. The excess of the cost
of acquisition over the fair value of the
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the
cost of acquisition is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the profit and loss account.

2 ZESHBERESERE)

22 HFEHKRE

(a)

MEATE
MEBAREASEEERERMHRE
LHROMELE  BEMGBF R
ZENRE - RFEAREE T aEME
R —XRE - BEEEERATESK
AEBNEERERNTERYE -

MEBARNMBRERN LT EEES
AEEHRABEEERR o RIEEHIER L
& B HIRIBURERS

AEERABREBEENEASNEEMKE
MM B RR IR - WEBRARNK S H
PREEENNFE  ARTHBRATA
MFTEASRAENARE  MEKREER
FEABRA ©

EEXRAHBRETAKBOHTHRNE
ZE - fARENRERIARE  ARK
BAZEQATEFELYPFHE  MBA
At RAEM D BRI S o WK AN H
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(@)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)
Inter-company transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated but
considered an indicator of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the
investments in subsidiaries are stated at
cost less provision for impairment losses.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which
the Group has significant influence but
not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the voting rights. Investment in an
associate is accounted for using the equity
method of accounting and are initially
recognised at cost.

The Group’s share of its associate post-
acquisition profits or losses is recognised
in the profit and loss account, and its share
of post-acquisition movements in reserves
is recognised in reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, including
any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

2

FTESHBE#ME(E)
22 #HAREE)
(@) MBARE)

(b)

AR5 REE N TREHRFK
BEXBEAT A - REBERET
FAKH  BERRIEFEREERE
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

()

Transactions with minority interests
The Group applies a policy of treating
transactions with minority interests as
transactions with equity owners of the
Group. For purchases from minority
interests, the difference between any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying value of net assets
of the subsidiary is deducted from equity.
Gains or losses on disposals to minority
interests are also recorded in equity.
For disposals to minority interests, the
difference between any proceeds received
and the relevant share of minority interests
is recorded in equity.

2.3 Foreign currency translation

(@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the accounts of each
of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated accounts are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”), which is the
Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the profit and loss account.

2 ZESHBERESERE)

22 #HAREE)

(c)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

()

Transactions and balances (continued)
Changes in the fair value of monetary
securities denominated in foreign currency
classified as available-for-sale are
analysed between translation differences
resulting from changes in the amortised
cost of the security, and other changes
in the carrying amount of the security.
Translation differences are recognised in
equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss
as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets such as equities classified
as available-for-sale are included in the
available-for-sale investments reserve in
equity.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each
balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

2
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)

()

Group companies (continued)

(i) income and expenses for each profit
and loss account are translated at
average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences
are recognised as a separate
component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of the net
investment in foreign operations, and
of borrowings and other currency
instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are taken to equity. When
a foreign operation is sold, exchange
differences that were recorded in equity
are recognised in the consolidated profit
and loss account as part of the gain or loss
on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FTESHBE#ME(E)
POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 24 Y% BERRKEE)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s EEHIE B A RREEN A ge g m A RS
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carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are expensed in the profit and
loss account during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements
HERTFEE
Building

’F

Furniture and fixtures
RAREE

Office equipment
MAERE

Motor vehicles

o

Computers

B

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if its
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined
by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts.
These are included in the profit and loss
account.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

2.7

Assets under construction

Assets under construction represents property,
plant and equipment under construction and
pending installation and is stated at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost
includes the costs of construction of buildings,
the costs of plant and machinery and interest
charges arising from borrowings used to finance
these assets during the period of construction
or installation and testing. No provision
for depreciation is made on assets under
construction until such time as the relevant
assets are completed and are available for the
intended use. When the assets concerned
are brought into use, the costs are transferred
to other property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as
stated in Note 2.4 above.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of
an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s
share of the net identifiable assets of the
acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is
included in intangible assets. Goodwill on
acquisitions of an associate is included in
investment in an associate and is tested annually
for impairment as part of the overall balance.
Separately recognised goodwill is tested
annually for impairment and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses (Note 2.7).
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating
to the entity sold.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
and associate and non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life or have
not yet been available for use are not subject
to amortisation, which are tested at least
annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ESHBEBE(E)

POLICIES (continued)

2.7

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
and associate and non-financial assets
(continued)

An impairment loss is recognised in profit and
loss account for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets
are grouped together into the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that are largely independent of
the cash inflows of other assets or groups of
assets (the “cash-generating unit”). The goodwill
acquired in a business combination, for the
purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose. The Company allocates goodwill
to groups of cash-generating units in the same
geographical location with similar principal
activities.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or
loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the units and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit
(group of units) on a pro rata basis.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries
and associate and non-financial assets
(continued)

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit and loss
account in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange, the Group
is required to prepare an interim financial report
in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at
the end of the financial year.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill and available-
for-sale financial assets carried at cost are not
reversed in a subsequent period. This is the
case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would
have been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial assets. The
classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired. The
management determines the classification of its
investments at initial recognition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are held for trading or
are designated as such upon initial
recognition. A financial asset is classified
in this category if acquired principally
for the purpose of selling in the short
term. Derivatives are classified as held
for trading unless they are designated
as hedges. Assets in this category are
classified as current assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current
assets, except for maturities greater
than twelve months after the balance
sheet date. These are classified as non-
current assets. Loans and receivables are
classified as “trade and other receivables”
and “cash and cash equivalents” in the
balance sheet (Notes 2.10 and 2.11).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ESHBEBE(E)
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (continued) 28 SEIAE)

Financial assets (continued)

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in
this category or not classified in any of
the other categories. They are included in
non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the investment within
twelve months of the balance sheet date.

Regular purchases and sales of investments
are recognised on trade-date — the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Investments are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit
or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are initially recognised at
fair value and transaction costs are expensed
in the profit and loss account. Investments are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and
receivables and held-to-maturity investments
are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains or loss arising from changes in fair value of
the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss category are presented in the profit and loss
account within “other gains, net” in the period in
which they arise. Dividend income from financial
assets of fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the profit and loss account as part
of other gains when the Group’s right to receive
payment is established.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FTESHBRBE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (continued) 28 SEIAE)
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Financial assets (continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in a foreign currency and classified
as available-for-sale are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes
in amortised cost of the security and other
changes in the carrying amount of the security.
The translation differences on monetary
securities are recognised in the profit and
loss account; translation differences on non-
monetary securities are recognised in equity.
Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-
sale are recognised in equity.

When securities classified as available-for-sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in
the profit and loss account as “gains/losses on
disposal of investments”. Interest on available-
for-sale securities calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the profit and
loss account. Dividends on available-for-sale
equity instruments are recognised in the profit
and loss account when the Group’s right to
receive payments is established.

The fair values of quoted investments are based
on current bid prices. If the market for a financial
asset is not active (and for unlisted securities),
the Group establishes fair value by using
valuation techniques. These include the use
of recent arm’s length transactions, reference
to other instruments that are substantially the
same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option
pricing models, making maximum use of market
inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-
specific inputs.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ESHBEBE(E)
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (continued) 28 SEIAE)

Financial assets (continued)

The Group assesses at each balance sheet
date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is considered to be impaired if objective
evidence indicates that one or more events
have had a negative effect on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset. A financial
asset is considered to be impaired if objective
evidence indicates that one or more events
have had a negative effect on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset. In the case of
equity securities classified as available-for-sale,
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the security below its cost is considered
an indicator that the securities are impaired. If
any such evidence exists for available-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured
as the difference between the acquisition cost
and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognised
in the profit and loss account — is removed from
equity and recognised in the profit and loss
account.

Derivative financial instruments and
hedging activities

The Group holds derivative financial instruments
to hedge its foreign currency and interest rate
risk exposures. Embedded derivatives are
separated from the host contract and accounted
for separately if the economic characteristics
and risks of the host contract and the embedded
derivates are not closely related, a separate
instrument with the same terms as the
embedded derivative would meet the definition
of a derivative, and the combined instrument is
not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ESHBEBE(E)
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (continued) 28 SEIAE)

Derivative financial instruments and
hedging activities (continued)

Derivative financial instruments are recognised
initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs
are recognised in the profit or loss account
when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition,
derivative financial instruments are measured at
fair value. When a derivative financial instrument
is not held for trading, and is not designated in
a qualifying hedge-relationship, all change in its
fair value are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued
by a group entity are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period. Interest expense is recognised on an
effective interest basis.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

2.10

Inventories

Inventories comprise IT products for distribution
and are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is determined using weighted average cost
formula. The cost of finished goods comprises
all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. It excludes borrowing costs.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount
of those inventories is recognised as an expense
in the period in which the related revenue is
recognised. The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all losses
of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense
in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment. A
provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables is established when there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to
the original terms of the receivables. Significant
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and default or delinquency
in payments are considered indicators that
the receivable is impaired. The amount of
the provision is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the effective interest rate. The amount of the
provision is recognised in the profit and loss
account.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11

212

2.13

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the consolidated cash flow statement.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Repurchase of share

When share capital recognised as equity is
repurchased, the amount of the consideration
paid, which includes directly attributable costs
is recognised as a deduction from equity.
Repurchased shares are presented as a
deduction from total equity.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated as
cost.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14

2.15

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Transaction
costs are incremental costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal
of a financial asset or financial liability, including
fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers,
brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory
agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer
taxes and duties. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in the
profit and loss account over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

All borrowing costs are charged to the profit
and loss account in the period in which they are
incurred.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax
and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account except to
the extent that they relate to items recognised
directly in equity, in which case they are
recognised in equity.

Current tax is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantially enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to
be paid to the tax authorities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ESHBEBE(E)
POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Fr8%i (&)

2.15 Income tax (continued)

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009  {2{HIZREMRAT = 2009 Fif

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the accounts.
However, the deferred tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss.

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and
laws that have been enacted or substantially
enacted at the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred tax
assets are realised or the deferred tax liabilities
are settled. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not discounted.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised. The carrying
amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilized. Any
such reduction is reversed to the extent that it
becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
and associates, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Employee benefits

(@)

(b)

()

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution
plans, the assets of which are held in
separate trustee-administered funds. The
retirement plans are generally funded
by payments from employees and by
the relevant group companies. For
employees in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”), the Group participates
in defined contribution retirement
schemes organised by the relevant local
government in the PRC.

The Group pays contributions to publicly
or privately administered pension
insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group
has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is
available.

Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the balance sheet date. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses taking into account
the profit attributable to the Company’s
shareholders. The Group recognises a
provision where contractually obliged or
where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Employee benefits (continued)

(d)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in
a capital reserve within equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date using
the trinomial lattice model, taking into
accounts the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted.

Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is
spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will
vest.

During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected to
vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to
the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review,
unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of
the Company’s shares. The equity amount
is recognised in the capital reserve until
either the option is exercised (when it is
transferred to the share premium account)
or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ESHBEBE(E)
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Provisions 217 &5

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events; it is more likely than not
that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

2.18 Leases

(@) Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of
the risks and rewards of ownership are
retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged in
the profit and loss account on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease.

(b) Finance leases

The Group leases certain property, plant
and equipment. Leases of property, plant
and equipment where the Group has
substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at
the lease’s commencement at the lower
of the fair value of the leased property and
the present value of the minimum lease
payments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18

2.19

2.20

Leases (continued)

(b) Finance leases (continued)

Each lease payment is allocated between
the liability and finance charges so as to
achieve a constant rate on the finance
balance outstanding. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges,
are included in borrowings. The interest
element of the finance cost is charged
to the profit and loss account over the
lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The
property, plant and equipment acquired
under finance leases is depreciated over
the shorter of the useful life of the asset
and the lease term.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are regarded as
insurance contracts under which the Group
accepts significant insurance risk from a third
party by agreeing to compensate that party on
the occurrence of a specific event. Provisions
are recognised when it is probable that the
guarantee will be called upon and an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligations.

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and
operations engaged in providing products or
services that are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of other business
segments. A geographical segment is engaged
in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment that are
subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of segments operating in other
economic environments.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21

2.22

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale
of goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s
activities. Revenue is shown, net of returns and
discounts and after eliminating sales within the
Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:

(i) Sale of goods
Sale of goods is recognised when
products have been delivered to the
customer, the customer has accepted the
products and collectibility of the related
receivables is reasonably assured.

(i) Service fees
Fees from service maintenance contracts
are recognised over the period of the
contract.

(iii) Project revenue

Revenue on projects is recognised in
the profit and loss account based on
the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the percentage
of contract costs incurred to date to
estimated total contract costs for the
contract.

(iv) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective
interest method.

(v) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the
right to receive payment is established.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s
shareholders is recognised as a liability in the
consolidated accounts in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the directors
(for interim dividends) or approved by the
shareholders (for final dividends).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in various countries
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to Chinese Renminbi
(“RMB”), the United States Dollar (“US$”),
Singapore Dollar (“S$”), Thai Baht
(“THB”), and Malaysian Ringgit (“RM”).
Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations.

To manage the foreign exchange
risk arising from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets
and liabilities, the Group uses foreign
currency forward contracts to reduce
foreign exchange risk. As at 31 March
2009, the Group had outstanding
foreign currency forward contracts with
a total notional amount of approximately
HK$121,676,000 (2008: approximately
HK$445,942,000).

A 5% strengthening of HK$ against
financial assets and liabilities denominated
in the following currencies other than
the functional currencies of the Group’s
entities at 31 March 2009 and 2008 would
have increased/(decreased) the post-tax
profit in the profit and loss account by
the amounts shown below. This analysis
assumes that all other variables, in
particular interest rates, remain constant.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(@)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

RMB AR
Uss$ E7T

S$ TN T
THB B 7S

RM B

A 5% weakening of HK$ against the above
currencies would have had the equal but
opposite effect on the above currencies to
the amounts shown above, on the basis
that all other variables remain constant.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates and
the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets except for the cash and
cash equivalents, details of which have
been disclosed in Note 13. The Group’s
exposure to changes in interest rates
is mainly attributable to its borrowings,
details of which have been disclosed in
Note 19. Borrowings carried at floating
rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk.

At 31 March 2009, if the interest rates
on bank borrowings had been 100
basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year would have been
HK$12,023,000 (2008: HK$20,183,000)
lower/higher, and the Company’s post-
tax profit for the year would have been
HK$3,300,000 (2008: HK$7,764,000)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/
lower interest expense on floating rate
bank borrowings.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

()

(d)

Credit risk

The carrying amount of trade and other
receivables and cash and cash equivalents
included in the consolidated balance
sheet represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets.

Cash and cash equivalents are mainly
deposited in various financial institutions,
which management believes are of high
quality. Management does not expect
any loss from non-performance by these
counterparties.

The Group has put in place policies to
ensure that sales of products are made
to customers with an appropriate credit
history and the Group performs periodic
credit evaluations of its customers. The
Group’s historical experience in collection
of trade receivables falls within the
recorded allowances.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management
includes maintaining sufficient cash and
the availability of funding from an adequate
amount of credit facilities. Group Treasury
maintains flexibility in funding by keeping
credit lines available.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of
the Group’s liquidity reserve, comprises
of undrawn facility and cash and cash
equivalents on the basis of expected cash
flow.

The table below analyses the Group’s
and the Company’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the balance sheet to
the contractual maturity date.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

Group

At 31 March 2009

Bank borrowings

Finance lease

Trade and other payables

At 31 March 2008

Bank borrowings

Finance lease

Trade and other payables

Company

At 31 March 2009

Bank borrowings

Trade and other payables

At 31 March 2008
Bank borrowings
Trade and other payables
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
net debt/equity ratio. This ratio is calculated
as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including current
and non-current borrowings as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet) less cash and cash
equivalents. Equity is calculated as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management (continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s capital
structure as at 31 March 2009.

Total borrowings (Note 19)
Less: Cash and cash

equivalents (Note 13) (H1a£13)
Net debt BIRFER
Total equity HAREZS
Net debt/equity ratio EAEEERE R

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets (such as trading and available-
for-sale securities) is based on quoted market
prices on the balance sheet date. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the
Group is the current bid price.

The fair values of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) are determined
by using valuation techniques. The Group uses
a variety of methods and makes assumptions
that are based on market conditions existing on
each balance sheet date. Quoted market prices
or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used
for long-term debts. Other techniques, such as
estimated discounted cash flows, are used to
determine fair value for the remaining financial
instruments.

The nominal values less impairment provision
of trade and other receivables and payables are
reasonable approximation of their fair values.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

(@) Estimated write-down of inventories to net
realisable value
The Group writes down inventories to net
realisable value based on an assessment of
the realisability of inventories. Write-downs
of inventories are recorded where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be realised.

The identification of write-downs requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where
the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of inventories and write-downs of
inventories in the period in which such estimate
has been changed.

(b) Estimated provision for impairment of trade
receivables
The Group makes provision for impairment of
trade receivables based on an assessment of
the recoverability of trade receivables. Provisions
are applied to trade receivables where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be collectible.

The identification of impairment of trade
receivables requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of trade receivables
and impairment loss in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.
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4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment, in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 2.7. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations require the use
of estimates (Note 6).

In assessing the value-in-use of the goodwill,
management considers changes in economic
conditions and makes assumptions regarding
estimated future cash flows and other factors.
Estimates of future cash flows are highly
subjective and judgements are based on
the Group’s experience and knowledge of
operations. These estimates can be significantly
impacted by many factors including changes in
business and economic conditions, operating
costs, inflation and competition.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required
in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which
such determination is made.
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5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

At 31 March 2007

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 March 2008

Opening net book amount

Acquisttion of subsidiaries
(Note 31(b)

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Exchange difference

Closing net book amount

At 31 March 2008

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 March 2009

Opening net book amount
Additions

Transfer

Disposals

Depreciation

Exchange difference

Closing net book amount

At 31 March 2009

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount
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5 Y- BERKE
REH

Leasehold Furniture Office Motor  Assets under

improvements  Building and fixtures equipment Computers  vehicles construction  Total
g FER  BAE

EE B7 %E #f e RE EEEE &
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T  TEn TEn  TEn TR TEn TER
2,070 - 488 7,069 - 1,484 - 11,11
(820) - (304) (5,861) - (1,333) - (8319
1,250 - 184 1,208 - 151 - 218
1,250 = 184 1,208 — 151 - 279
5,725 8,328 4,515 2,113 27,981 3,643 3371 55,676
550 - 292 621 3,905 136 1678 7,182
- - ©6) (14) 19 (270) (292 (661)
(888) (110) (1,264) (754) (4,466) (678) (28 (8,188
312 397 3 67 648 309 207 1,981
6,949 8,615 3,762 3,241 27,989 3,291 4946 58,783
8,890 8,728 4,825 9,362 28,258 4,920 4975 69,948
(1,941) (113) (1,073) 6,111) (269) (1,629) (29) (11,165)
6,949 8,615 3,752 3,241 27,989 3,291 4,946 58,783
6,949 8,615 3,752 3,241 27,989 3,291 4946 58,783
770 535 3,386 3,968 9,538 1,823 1,526 21,546
- - - - 1,007 - (1,007) -
- - (672) (83) (431) (70) - (1,156)
(1,951) (272) (1,061) (1,428) (9,988) (1,506) - (16,206)
(230) (1,024) (450) (398) (1,777) 19) (B71)  (4,642)
5,538 7,854 5,055 5,300 26,338 3,346 4,894 58325
8,772 8,427 6,202 11,363 35,856 6,144 4894 81,658
(3,284) (679) (1,147) (6,069) (9,518) (2,798) - (238333
5,538 7,854 5,055 5,300 26,338 3,346 4894 58325
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5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 5 WX BERRZEE)
(continued)
Note: Bt
Depreciation expense of HK$16,206,000 (2008: HK$8,188,000) 16,206,000/ 70 ( —ZE )\ £ : 8,188,000567T) 2 EEAD R
has been charged in administrative expenses. THASZEHRH% -
The net book value of property, plant and equipment under MERETYE BMEERSER-ZEZAE=F=+—HHNE
finance leases as at 31 March 2009 was HK$1,099,000 (2008: HEF{E A 1,099,000 (ZZZ)\4 : 183,000787T) °
HK$183,000).
Company AT
Motor
vehicles
RE
HK$’000
FHET
At 31 March 2007 RZEZTLF=A=+—H
Cost, accumulated depreciation and KA - REHRVE KR EREFE
net book amount -
Year ended 31 March 2008 BE_ZZ)\F=A=+—HILFE
Opening net book amount BAFIARE A =
Additions NE 136
Depreciation e (65)
Closing net book amount BSREREDFE 71
At 31 March 2008 RZEZNF=A=+—H
Cost KAME 136
Accumulated depreciation ZEtihe (69)
Net book amount BREFE 71
Year ended 31 March 2009  E_EENF=A=1+—HILFE
Opening net book amount BIWIRREDFE 71
Additions NE =
Depreciation e (71)
Closing net book amount BRERAFE =
At 31 March 2009 RZZEZNF=A=+—H
Cost KAME 136
Accumulated depreciation ZEtE (136)
Net book amount BREFE -
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GOODWILL

Goodwill e

Beginning of the year F47)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B A A

(Note 31(b)) (Hiat31(b)

Exchange difference ME R

End of the year FR

Note:

Goodwill is allocated to groups of cash generating units (“CGUs”)
in the same geographical location with similar principal activities.

The recoverable amount of each group of CGUs is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. Cash flow projection for
impairment review is based on budget prepared on the basis of
assumptions reflective of the prevailing market conditions. Key
assumptions used for value-in-use calculations include:

(@) Cash flows were projected based on actual operating
results and the five-year business plan.

(b) The anticipated annual revenue growth rate included in the
cash flow projections is 10% (2008:10%).

(c) A pre-tax discount rate in 2009 of 7.6% (2008: 12%) was
applied in determining the recoverable amount of the
CGUs. The discount rate used reflects the risk-free rate
and the premium for specific risks relating to the business
units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent
management’s assessment of future trends in the IT industry and
are based on both external sources and internal sources and both
past performance (historical data) and its expectations for market
development.

Group management believes that any reasonably possible
changes in the above key assumptions applied are not likely to
cause the recoverable amount to be materially lower than the
carrying amount of goodwill.

(5L
Group
KEE
2009 2008
—BTRE  ZTEINF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
298,189 316,291
316,291 -
- 295,977
(18,102) 20,314
298,189 316,291
Htat -

BENEER bR B T EZEFRUNRSELFLAR -

BEHMRSELFMN AN DS RIREREEETE - HEHM
EETHREREBTFYUDRBARRE R TR SRREERR
MIEEEL - EREEMAEERREHE

@ HEeRnERBEERELEENTFEEEER -

(o) BERESRETEINTEINSFRERAE10% (=TT
A& £ 10%) °

© ZETNAFOBABREART7.6%(ZTZTN\EF  12%)
ERFETRSEEBEMAAIRESE o B3R R R E
[EBE FI 2 I 5 R 2 7 B A TR R R (8 o

AREZRBVEEREEBHEARERRBB TG
TRBERINRIR ~ BERR (BLBUR) KGR ERNTE -

SEERERE AT Z2RR|EMNSEEELRETSE KD
SEARENHEREDE -
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7 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 7 A{HHEMKEE
Group
REE
2009 2008
—EBhE  ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHR TR
Unlisted investment fund FELFTREES - 17,008
Club memberships, at cost BHTEE  BKAE 1,545 1,613
1,545 18,621
Group
REE
2009 2008
—EBhE  ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHR TR
Beginning of the year F4) 18,621 9,467
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31(b)) UEEMI B A 7 (A5 31(b)) - 3,788
Disposals & (16,815) (9,467)
Additions NE - 20,000
Changes in fair value charged to equity RSB A FE & S - (5,327)
Exchange difference PE 5 Z=RE (261) 160
End of the year FR 1,545 18,621
Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in A E M EEN TSI EEEHE ¢
the following currencies:
Group
AEE
2009 2008
—EBhE  ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHR THRT
HK$ BT - 14,673
S$ AN TT 1,413 1,563
THB B - 2,233
RM e 132 152
1,545 18,621
The fair values of unlisted securities are based EFTBEN AT EILEBIREBENREET -
on current bid price of the underlying investment
securities.
None of the financial assets is either past due or B 784 BN B HR s R (E o
impaired.
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES R B A aRE
Company
RKAFE]
2009 2008
—EEhEF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T
Investments at cost FE KA

— Shares listed in Singapore — TN £kt 1,218,903 1,327,518
— Unlisted investments, at cost —JELETIRE - BKANE 83,154 83,154
1,302,057 1,410,672

On 30 October 2007, the Company acquired 52.5%
equity interest of ECS Holdings Limited (“ECS”), a
company listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (the “Singapore Stock Exchange”), at
S3$0.668 (approximately HK$3.55) per share, totalling
HK$680,835,000. After this acquisition, ECS and its
subsidiaries became subsidiaries of the Company.

Upon completion of the acquisition of the 52.5%
interest in ECS, the Company also made a mandatory
cash offer (the “Offer”) in Singapore to acquire the
remaining ECS shares. The Offer was based on a
price of S$0.668 per share. Up to 31 March 2008, the
Company purchased an additional 45.19% interest
in ECS at a total consideration, including direct
transaction costs, of approximately S$114,512,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$629,844,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the
Company purchased an additional 1% interest at
a total consideration, including direct transaction
costs, of approximately S$2,505,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,557,000).

During the period from 17 December 2007 to 14
August 2008, shares of ECS have been suspended
from trading by the Singapore Stock Exchange
since ECS did not fulfill the 10% public free float
requirement.

—TTLF+A=1+H  AARIRE0.668 #7101
TL(#93.557% 70 ) BRIEH INEBLFR ST ETA
AI([FIEELER BT EARRER AR ([EAR
% 1) 52.5% & #E - 42 (8 680,835,000 7T ° B iE
% EAREREMBARKARAGMHBAR -

W EARRHE 52.5% IR ETER 1% + NS B IMERT I
eI R e REERE (WEREZ]) - WEER
BHEE D - UWIBEEIZ SR 0.668 #1103 T ES
EE - HE-TZENE=A=+—8  AQAFKE
ERRHEEEINSA9% s - BRE(BREEERHK
7X) #9114,512,000 ¥ 0038 7T (KIF 7 629,844,000 7
JT) °

BE_ZTTNF=ZA=+T—HILFEE ' XRRINE
RE(BEEERSKA)%)2,505,000F 03 T (HH%E
R #J14,557,00078 7T ) UK BERESN 1% #Ex ©

T F+ A+ EtEE_ZEZN\F/N\A+IAH
IEHR - AREARE T T A 10% ARERENE
T RMERDEEETINKELRIMES -
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
On 14 August 2008, the Company disposed of
33,000,000 shares (representing approximately
9.03% interest) in ECS at a net consideration
of approximately S$14,296,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$78,642,000). The disposal was
effected by the Company in order to restore the public
free float of ECS in compliance with the listing rules
of the Singapore Stock Exchange and facilitate the
resumption of trading of ECS shares on the Singapore
Stock Exchange on 15 August 2008.

On 14 August 2008, the Company issued 32,000,000
put options (the “Put Options”) to investors who
purchased 32,000,000 ECS shares (the “Sale Shares”)
from the Company. The holders of the Put Options are
entitled to require the Company to purchase the Sale
Shares from them at the exercise price of S$0.477
(approximately HK$2.67) per share which shall be
adjusted for certain deductions one calendar year
after the commencement of trading of ECS shares
on the Singapore Exchange. In accordance with
the accounting policies set out in Note 2.8 of these
accounts, the Put Options are recognised as financial
liabilities at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. As at 31 March 2009, the carrying amounts
of financial liabilities of HK$76,195,000 is included in
other payables.

In addition, 51% of ECS shares held by the Company
were pledged as security for a club loan granted by
four financial institutions (Note 19 (b)).

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March
2009 are as follows:

8

REBARRE (&)
RZFEENFENATEA S RRAFNFRED
14,296,000 #7 13 7T (FHF 7 49 78,642,00078 7T ) i
£ 33,000,000 B EARRER B R A B (4915 9.03%
) - ARRIEITHE & ERBH B 5 P ([ 3
) EMRAREERBEBERARZ AR
2 REEANERMR_ZZINFENATREAE
IR ESRZAREEE -

R=ZZFEFENFNA+HEB ARFARBEAR
7]32,000,000 8 EARB R R 2 & & & 1T
32,000,000 f& RH#E ([ ]) - RRIGERB AR
B SRAR RIRITEBF0.477 FI13 It (492.67
EIL) M SR EHEERD - TEEBRNERR
BOEMMEELRDITAREE BAEFERZE
FHURAEH FH R o RIRABRM 5E2.8 871 &) = 5T
R AN B ERARRIREER AN ER B IS
BE - R-BEZAF=A=1+—8B UBEEER
E76,195,000 8 et AE Ab &S FIE o

BEAN - RRRFAEES1% ERRBMH DB - B/
M S BB R B — R EE R ER(IEE190)

R-ZEENF=A=+—HIEMNBRARZHEN

2

Particulars of

Place of Principal activities issued share Percentage of
incorporation/ and place of capital/registered interest held
Name establishment operations capital Directly Indirectly
(Note a)
e FTEEKR BRITRE RS
DEER R 3Lt B R 2 EME RS HiE Lk
(Hiita)
VST Group Limited British Virgin Investment holding, 4 ordinary shares 100% =
Islands British Virgin Islands of US$1 each
BLEREFRAR HEERX REER 4R EREE 100% =
BB RERELHE 135672 Bk
RINELEREET PRC Distribution of IT RMB20,000,000 100% =
BRAF] products in the PRC
ANELEEE T H KBS HE AR 20,000,000 7T 100% -
BRAT] RHRE
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8 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 8 REBRATRE (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March R-EEAF=ZA=+—BHEEWNBRATZFBW
2009 are as follows: (continued) T (&)
Particulars of
Place of Principal activities issued share Percentage of
incorporation/ and place of capital/registered interest held
Name establishment operations capital Directly Indirectly
(Note a)
ML FTEEKR BRITRAE iR DL
DEER Rt 2 Pk EME RS HiE %
(Hfzta)
VST Computers (H.K.) Hong Kong Distribution of IT 2 ordinary shares - 100%
Limited products in Hong Kong of HK$1 each
BB (EE) e REBDIHEM 2 ERmEE - 100%
BRAR R Em 18T ERR
62,000,000 non-voting
deferred shares
of HK$1 each
62,000,000 %
SREE1ETZ
ERFERLER
It RELFERE PRC Distribution of IT RMB10,000,000 - 100%
BRAA products in the PRC
IERELFERE H KBS HEAR AR¥10,000,0007T - 100%
BRAR RHRE
ECS Holdings Limited Singapore Investment holding and 327,580,098 ordinary 89.66% =
distribution of IT shares of $$0.3088
products, provision each
of IT services and
enterprise systems
in Singapore
EARERARRH CApllIb I IEAE SRR E R 327,580,093 % 89.66% -
DIHEMBRER kM 0.3088
REE AR RS AN 2 AR
RBEZRS
EC Sure Holdings Thailand Investment holding 196,000 preferred = 89.66%
(Thailand) Co., in Thailand shares, non-accumulative
Limited dividend, Baht 1.25
per share; and
204,000 ordinary
shares, Baht 1.25
per share
EC Sure Holdings RE RERBEEEREZR 196,000 i AR EI(E 1.25 - 89.66%
(Thailand) Co., Rk BEERFRE
Limited B&fn 204,000 =R
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 8 REBRATRE (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March R-BEZAE=ZA=+—HTEWBAT ZFHBW
2009 are as follows: (continued) T (&)
Particulars of
Place of Principal activities issued share Percentage of
incorporation/ and place of capital/registered interest held
Name establishment operations capital Directly Indirectly
(Note a)
ML FTEEBR BRITRE iR DL
DEER Rt 2 I EME RS HiE %
(Hfzta)
The Value Systems Thailand Provider of information 7,783,000 shares of = 89.66%
Co., Limited technology products and 10 Baht each
services for IT
infrastructure in Thailand
The Value Systems =E RE AR ER K 7,783,000 /% - 89.66%
Co., Limited BB AR BREE 105RH%
PRIGHER Pl <)
ECS Computers (Asia) Singapore Provider of information 13,600,000 ordinary shares - 89.66%
Pte. Ltd technology products and of S$1 each
services for IT infrastructure
in Singapore
ECS Computers Ci)l1b5 I3 B AARHRE 13,600,000 R &R EI (B - 89.66%
(Asia) Pte. Limited KA MR AR R 1 ¥ IR T2 Rk
FR7s G ER
Pacific City (Asia Pacific) ~ Singapore Retail of information 150,000 ordinary shares = 89.66%
Pte Ltd technology products, of S$1 each
[T equipment and
accessories
in Singapore
Pacific City (Asia Pacific) &7 l3# RIS 150,000 & = 89.66%
Pte Ltd EBHREm FREE 1 FET
BB AR ZERER
T E
Isan System Pte Ltd. Singapore Provision and distribution 2 ordinary shares — 89.66%
of information technology of S$1 each
products and general
trading of IT equipment
in Singapore
Isan System Pte Ltd. H N RETIR AR K 73 S E R 2R EREE - 89.66%
REREm I E—R 1 ¥ 2 B

BAREREE S
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8 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 8 REBRATRE (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March R-BEZAE=ZA=+—HTEWBAT ZFHBW
2009 are as follows: (continued) T (&)
Particulars of
Place of Principal activities issued share Percentage of
incorporation/ and place of capital/registered interest held
Name establishment operations capital Directly Indirectly
(Note a)
ML FTEEKR BRITRE iR DL
DEER R 3Lt B R HfEARFE HiE %
(Hfzta)
ECS Technology Hong Kong Investment holding, 11,500,000 ordinary - 89.66%
(China) Limited provider of shares of HK$1 each
information technology
products and services
for IT infrastructure
in Hong Kong
ECS Technology BB REBWEREER - 11,500,000 R & AR EI (B - 89.66%
(China) Limited B ER KA 1 BT BRI
R E M % e AR TS (e 7S
ECS Technology PRC Provider of information US$10,000,000 = 89.66%
(Guangzhou) technology products and
Company Limited services for IT
infrastructure in the PRC
ECS Technology H BB R E R RE 10,000,000 7T - 89.66%
(Guangzhou) RHE R R RIS L e
Company Limited
ECS Technology PRC Provider of information US$1,282,000 = 89.66%
Company Limited technology products and
services for IT
infrastructure in the PRC
ECS Technology H B AR A m R & 1,282,000 37T - 89.66%
Company Limited R B R e R LR
ECS International PRC Provider of information US$3,100,000 - 89.66%
Trading (Shanghai) technology products
Company Limited and services for IT
infrastructure
in the PRC
ECS International A hEE AR ER K 3,100,000% 7T - 89.66%
Trading (Shanghali) AR R R
Company Limited AR HtrER
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8  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 8 RHMEATREH)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March R-BEZAE=ZA=+—HTEWBAT ZFHBW
2009 are as follows: (continued) T (&)

Particulars of

Place of Principal activities issued share Percentage of
incorporation/ and place of capital/registered interest held
Name establishment operations capital Directly Indirectly
(Note a)
AR, FTEEBR BRITRE iR DL
DEER Rt 2 R EME RS HiE R
(Hfzta)
ECS China Technology ~ PRC Provider of information US$15,000,000 = 89.66%
(Shanghai) technology products
Company Limited and services for IT
infrastructure in the PRC
ECS China Technology B R E m & 15,000,000 7T - 89.66%
(Shanghai) BB AT R
Company Limited RIS ER
PCS Trading Limited British Virgin Provider of information 1 ordinary share of - 89.66%
Islands technology products US$1 each
and services for [T
infrastructure in PRC
PCS Trading Limited RBEX B SRR E 1 RFREE - 89.66%
BB KB AR EE 1ET 2 Eiwk
RIS E R
ECS KUSH Sdn Bhd Malaysia Investment holding 1,000,002 ordinary = 53.80%
in Malaysia shares of RM1 each
ECS KUSH Sdn Bhd Y ik RS RE R FREER 1,000,002 R G REE - 53.80%
1H8zEmk
ECS KU Sdn Bhd Malaysia Provider of information 400,000 ordinary = 53.80%
technology products shares of RM1 each
and services for IT
infrastructure in Malaysia
ECS KU Sdn Bhd B RA BRI B AR Em & 400,000 iR B AR EIE - 53.80%
BB AR IR 1 B8z Emk
HER
ECS Astar Sdn Bhd Malaysia Provider of information 500,000 ordinary - 53.80%
technology products shares of RM1 each
and services for IT
infrastructure in Malaysia
ECS Astar Sdn Bhd i BRATDEMEHRER R 500,000 fx F AR E & = 53.80%
AR R R RS 1Bz Emk

HRER
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8  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 8 RHMEATREH)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March R-BEZAE=ZA=+—HTEWBAT ZFHBW
2009 are as follows: (continued) T (&)

Particulars of

Place of Principal activities issued share Percentage of
incorporation/ and place of capital/registered interest held
Name establishment operations capital Directly Indirectly
(Note a)
ML FTEEKR BRITRE iR DL
DEER R 3Lt B R EME RS HiE Lk
(Hfzta)
ECSICT Bhd Malaysia Provider of information 500,000 ordinary - 53.26%
technology products shares of RM1 each

and services for IT
infrastructure in Malaysia

ECS ICT Bhd B RADR SR A AR ER KA 500,000 iz B AR E(E - 53.26%
R A R i R LR 1Bz EEk

ECS Pericomp Sdn Bhd ~ Malaysia Provider of information 400,000 ordinary - 43.04%
technology products shares of RM1 each

and services for IT
infrastructure in Malaysia

ECS Pericomp Sdn Bnhd 2k AA5s BRI A AR A o R A FR 400,000 R B AR E & - 43.04%
REERE R RS (R 1582 Bk
ECS Indo Pte. Ltd Singapore Distributor of information Issued and paid up capital - 80.69%
technology products of US$1,570,392
in Singapore
ECS Indo Pte. Ltd N KA AR E 7 367 1,570,392 B EAT - 80.69%
Refsh RRAR
PT ECS Indo Jaya Indonesia Distributor of information 100,000 ordinary — 80.69%
technology products shares of US$1 each
in Indonesia
PT ECS Indo Jaya ENfe R EREHREm P 100,000 (X & AR EE - 80.69%
135672 Bk
ECS Infocom (Phils) Singapore Investment holding 2 ordinary shares — 89.66%
Pte. Ltd in Singapore of S$1 each
ECS Infocom (Phils) EARII RET IR IR E AR 2REIREE 1 E AT - 89.66%
Pte. Ltd ZEER
Note: Higt -
(@ Al subsidiaries are limited liability companies except for @ BRRPEKIOMBARAZINEDREIN - HAKEB R
those established in the PRC, which are wholly-owned AHRERAR

foreign enterprises.
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10

AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

There was no amount due from VST Group Limited as
at 31 March 2009. The amount due from VST Group
Limited of HK$280,000,000 as at 31 March 2008 was
unsecured, interest-free, denominated in HK$ and
repayable on demand.

The amount due from VST Computers (H.K.) Limited
of HK$137,397,000 (2008: HK$55,688,000) is
unsecured, interest-bearing at a rate between 5.00%
and 5.25% per annum (2008: 5.25% and 7.75% per
annum), denominated in HK$ and is repayable on
demand.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Investment in an associate R A RIIEE
Loan to an associate B ANCTN= 1
Beginning of the year F1
Acquisition of subsidiaries Mﬂzﬁﬁ RIEING]
Share of profit/(loss) PaK (it /N

of associate sm, (E51E)
Exchange difference MEH =R
End of the year FR
Loan to an associate EiANCTN = E1

FEH&WE’L\T RIH

R-ZEENF=A=1+—H " BEEEFRAFL
BHERFE R-ZFTENF=ZA=1+—0 L&
& IR A ] P /R 338 280,000,000 /8 7T T KR - 2
B WBTFHERZARERKERE -

RLEN (B8) BRARIFT/AFIE 137,397,000 47T
(ZZZ )\ : 55,688,000/87T) JHEEIF + #£5.00%
£525% 2 FREFE(ZTT)N\F : FHF5.25%
£7.75%) » WETTAHERERERIFER -

10 REE QT WEDS

Group

K EE
2009 2008
—BThE  ZTINF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
35,050 35,445
3,511 2,163
38,561 37,608
35,445 -
- 34,174
5,156 (693)
(5,551) 1,964
35,050 35,445
3,511 2,163
38,561 37,608
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10 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 10 REEEQTMNER (&)
Details of the associate as at 31 March 2009 are as R-BENFE=ZA=1+—HELARMFBENT :
follows:

Particulars of

Country of Principal issued shares held
Name incorporation activities FrisE %17
£ FMAER FEEK IR S
MSI-ECS Phils., Inc Philippines Distribution of IT products 3,097,055 ordinary shares
of Peso 100 each
MSI-ECS Phils., Inc FFRE DB B E m 3,097,055 IR G AR EE
100 4R 3= 2 ik
The effective equity interest held is 44.82% (2008: s EREZR A 44.82% (ZZEZN\F : 49.33%) °
49.33%).
The loan to the associate is denominated in US$ and is MBS AT ERAETSE  WAEEKR 28 K%
unsecured, interest-free and not repayable within one TNER—FERNEE -
year.
The results of an associate and its aggregate assets —TEENF=ZRA=+—H BERAREERHEA
and liabilities as at 31 March 2009 are as follows: ﬁ? RBENT :
Group
rEE
2009 2008
—EEAEF —FTET)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FA&T
Assets BE 299,135 280,315
Liabilities afE (220,933) (208,464)
Equity T 78,202 71,851
Revenue Was 851,728 396,892
Profit/(loss) swFlL (E1R) 11,503 (1,405)
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11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 11 BEZRHEMEWRRIE
Group Company
# 4 AT
2009 2008 2009 2008

—2TAE ZTT/\F —TTRE —TINE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR Tt THT TR

Trade receivables B SRR 2,430,815 2,601,826 - -
Less: provision for impairment B RS (59,529) (47,066) - =
Trade receivables, net ZBoEWEIEFEE 2,371,286 2,554,760 - -
Prepayments FEfFE 219,023 257,255 222 SIS
Other receivables H b pe kI8 290,952 115,144 - =

2,881,261 2,927,159 222 7B
There is no concentration of credit risk with respect HRAEBEEAERFPERZHTF  HAKENE
to trade and other receivables as the Group has large 5 REMEREIET EEEEF R o

number of customers and counterparties.

The Group grants credit period to third party AEBRTE=FEFPZEERANT7E60H - mfA
customers ranging from 7 to 60 days, which may be ARFPZEEHATLER  RIRSFHAKE IR
extended for selected customers depending on their SERNFRLHEME - B HRIGRIEERE 2 KK S
trade volume and settlement history with the Group. Mt an T -
The ageing analysis of gross trade receivables is as
follows:
Group
rEH
2009 2008
—ETAE —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FAT
0 —30 days 0&30H 1,379,574 1,841,836
31 - 60 days 31260H 639,721 408,877
61 — 90 days 61Z290H 162,579 178,856
Over 90 days B0 H 248,941 172,257
2,430,815 2,601,826
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11
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
As at 31 March 2009, trade receivables of
HK$764,514,000 (2008: HK$1,129,757,000), which
were fully performing, were past due but not impaired.
These relate to a number of independent customers
for whom there is no recent history of default. The
ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as
follows:

0 - 30 days 0Z&30H

31 - 120 days 312120 H
121 — 365 days 1212365 H
Over 365 days BB 365 H

As at 31 March 2009, trade receivables of
HK$59,529,000 (2008: HK$47,066,000) were
impaired and full provision has been made. The ageing
analysis of these receivables is as follows:

0 -90 days
Over 90 days

0Z90H
im0 H

11

ESREMEWIE(E)
—EENFZA=1+—H E2PBETHNEZESHEK
FIE 764,514,000 7L (ZZZ N\ F : 1,129,757,000
B B BHEMRE RERBELEBIKFE
B BRESIWEENLE ZEEHEWRFIEN
BREC DAL T -

Group

REE
2009 2008
—EBENEF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
549,673 812,305
183,989 214,957
30,852 60,720
- 41,775
764,514 1,129,757

—_EEAF=ZA=ZF+—H B EKFKE
59,529,000 7t (ZZZ \4F : 47,066,000 7T) B
WA - WEEL 2 EEE - ZF5FRIFIENRER D
Mo :

Group

REE
2009 2008
—BThE  ZTINF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
1,579 412
57,950 46,654
59,529 47,066
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11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 11 EZRHMERRRIEE)
Movements on the provision for impairment of trade B SRR R ERENEBIT
receivables is as follows:

Group
REE
2009 2008
—EENF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Beginning of the year F4) 47,066 =
Acquisition of subsidiaries =N - 49,553
Provision for receivable impairment FEWFTRRE R E 24,472 13,945
Receivables written off during PR S A AT U E] A FE IR IR
the year as uncollectible (8,625) (13,933)
Exchange difference fEH =5 (3,384) (2,499
End of the year FR 59,529 47,066
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables B REMEKRFIBEREREN TS E%HE :
were denominated in the following currencies:
Group Company
# 4 AT
2009 2008 2009 2008

—2ENFE —TTN\F —2LhE —TINF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR Tt THT TR

HK$ BT 4,292 8,194 222 375
RVMB AR 1,261,899 1,063,919 - -
S$ AN T 228,945 477,318 - -
us$ e 670,331 695,740 - -
THB B3] 340,158 366,447 - -
RM Bk 274,273 307,848 - -
Indonesian rupiah (‘RP”) ENESE - 1,686 - =
Philippine pesos (‘PESO”) FREHE

(T=1) 101,363 6,007 - —

2,881,261 2,927,159 222 375

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables BREREHAZIE - E 5 & H M E W RIERER
approximate their fair values due to their short-term FA{EEE N EEE -
maturities.
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11

12

13
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
The maximum exposure to the credit risk at the
reporting date is the carrying value of the trade and
other receivables above. The Group did not hold any
collateral as security.

The credit quality of trade and other receivables
that are neither past due nor impaired has been
assessed by reference to historical information about
counterparty default rates. The existing counterparties
do not have significant defaults in the past.

1 BSREMEBUKEGE)
RBEAHNEERR LRSS LS 5 N HEMEWR
FIAMBRE(E - NEEY B A ERFRERER -

WEBHIBENE S REMERFENEEER
T2 EXZHFHBERORENFNMG - RARS
HFBELBENEL -

INVENTORIES 12 #FE
Group
REHE
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Inventories on hand FHEEFEE
— Held for re-sale —FREHES 960,850 1,348,449
— Held for return to suppliers — AR O IER
or exchange to customers FHRPER 3,448 4,760
Inventories-in-transit EERFE 227,239 88,352
Less: provision B (44,938) (34,449
1,146,599 1,407,112
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised ERBRASX 2 FESE DTENHIzE23 °
as an expense is shown in Note 23.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 13 HEeRREEEY
Group Company
REH KA E]
2009 2008 2009 2008
—ETAF ZE2ZEN\FE ZZEZThE ZZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FATT FERT T
Cash at bank and in hand RITHEA K
EFRE 295,233 94,506 1,539 363
Short-term bank deposits KEHASRI TR
(Note a) (KizFa) 8,339 218,308 - -
Cash and cash equivalents BEEBERTH
in the balance sheet B&k
REEEY 303,572 312,814 1,539 363
Maximum exposure to credit risk =ER R 303,075 312,086 1,539 363
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13 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents
were denominated in the following currencies:
HK$ BT
US$ ETT
RMB (Note b) AR¥E (Hi5tb)
S$ AN T
THB S 7S
RM B
RP He&
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts include
the following for the purposes of the consolidated cash
flow statement:
Cash and cash equivalents BEBBRP
in the balance sheet rIRe KRS
Bank overdrafts (Note 19) RITES (K7 19)

The effective interest rate on short-term bank
deposits was 1.22% (2008: 2.30%) per annum.
These deposits have an average maturity of 3.5
days (2008: 2 days).

The Group’s bank balances and deposits
denominated in RMB are deposited with banks
in the PRC. The conversion of these RMB
denominated balances into foreign currencies
and the remittance of funds out of the PRC
is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the
government of the PRC.
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13 HEeRRLEEW(E)
ReFREEEYRABEN T EEE -
Group Company
REE AATH
2009 2008 2009 2008
—ETAF ZEZEN\FE ZEZThE ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET FAT
11,708 4,399 1,516 363
47,041 142,883 - =
65,072 96,730 - -
116,140 39,172 23 -
2,291 9,165 - -
47,105 20,426 - -
14,215 39 - =
303,572 312,814 1,539 363
BirERenEREME Be  RESEYRIE
TEZBIETHEE
Group Company
REE AAT
2009 2008 2009 2008
—ETAF ZE2EN\FE ZZEZThE ZZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET FAT
303,572 312,814 1,539 363
(11,337) (7,772) - -
292,235 305,042 1,539 363
@ REERTERIERFNER1.22%(ZZZN
F:230%) - ZEGFER 2 FHEHAA35H
ZZTNF :2H) °
() AEEUAREIERITESRRERIDFN

R B2 8R1T - HIBZFUARBIIE 2 &k
AN 2 i B & B o B 7858 5 R B BURT P AR
a2 SNEE & )35 Al KO
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14 SHARE CAPITAL 14 KR
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T
Authorised: JRRE
2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000
(2008: 2,000,000,000) (ZZZ/)\#F : 2,000,000,000) f&
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FREEO1 BT L@ 200,000 200,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: ERTREE L BN
2009 2008
“EENE —TT)N\F
Number of Number of
issued ordinary issued ordinary
shares of shares of
HK$0.10 each HK$0.10 each
SREE BkEE
0.10/8 0.10/87T
BRI Par value ZEBT Par value
EERYA HfE L@k E HfE
HK$°000 HK$'000
THL THL
Beginning of the year F4) 1,117,666,666 111,767 931,666,666 93,167
Issue of shares (Note a) BT (Hiita) - - 186,000,000 18,600
Shares repurchased (Note b) BERRG (Hizb) (26,428,000) (2,643) = =
End of the year FR 1,091,238,666 109,124  1,117,666,666 111,767
Note: et -
(@  The Company entered into a placing agreement on @ ARENRZZEEZEF+ATHEL &L Limited (A AR

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009

10 October 2007 (“Placing Agreement”) with, among
others, L & L Limited (a shareholder of the Company)
and two placing agents namely Macquarie Securities
Limited and Merrill Lynch Far East Limited (“Placing
Agents”), and a subscription agreement on 10 October
2007 (“Subscription Agreement”) with L & L Limited.
Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, L & L Limited placed
186,000,000 shares of the Company owned by L & L
Limited through the Placing Agents to independent third
parties. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, L & L
Limited then subscribed for the same number of shares
in the Company by way of top-up subscription. The price
for the shares placed and subscribed was HK$3.05 per
share. The net proceeds received by the Company is
approximately HK$551,807,000. These shares issued
pursuant to the Subscription Agreement rank pari passu
with the existing shares in issue.

R)EMAREREBEEREZHFRDER A A RENRR
BRAR([RERE])FTVEEHR ([EEHZE] - W
R-BEF+ A+ HEL &L Limitedz] 23RBS 175 ([ 32
izl - REFREHHE - L& L Limited: BB ERIER
B FE=HFREL & L Limited P78 A & 186,000,000 A%
Btn o RIBREE G 0 L& L LimitedBE8 B B2 RER
AR E AR RRG o FERES RRBORNMDERA
FH83.05/87T o ANABIFTIS I FREAY A551,807,0007%
TC o RBREHRBTHRMEREFITROZERASE
AL o
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14 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 14 BAE(E)

Bt - ()

Note: (continued)

()  BEEIEXGRG

(b) Repurchase of own shares

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Company BE-TTNF=A=1—HILFE  ARARBIHA
repurchased its own shares on the Stock Exchange as BEEAGRBRMIT:
follows:
Number of Highest Lowest Aggregate
ordinary shares price paid price paid purchase
repurchased per share per share price paid
[=)-1c BREXT BREX EXftz
Date =P ZEREA ZEREERE ZRIEER FEYAEI
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT FAT
12-Dec-08 —EEN\F+=ZA+=H 250,000 0.440 0.440 110
15-Dec-08 —EEN\F+=ZA+HHAH 96,000 0.445 0.440 43
16-Dec-08 —EENF+ZA+NH 1,500,000 0.455 0.450 680
17-Dec-08 —EENF+ZA+ER 2,598,000 0.455 0.450 1,170
18-Dec-08 —ZTT)\F+=-A+/\H 1,000,000 0.460 0.455 458
19-Dec-08 BT N\F+=ZA+NAH 1,104,000 0.465 0.455 507
22-Dec-08 —EENEFE+-_A=+=A 2,796,000 0.465 0.460 1,287
23-Dec-08 —EEN\F+=ZA=+=H 206,000 0.470 0.470 97
24-Dec-08 —EENF+ZA=+mWmA 2,000,000 0.485 0.485 970
29-Dec-08 —EENF+ZA=1+NAH 1,336,000 0.490 0.485 653
05-Jan-09 —ZEThEF—AAAR 5,842,000 0.540 0.510 3,131
07-Jan-09 —EThF—A+tA 1,200,000 0.570 0.570 684
08-Jan-09 —EThF—ANA 5,500,000 0.540 0.540 2,970
09-Jan-09 —EThF—AhA 1,000,000 0.510 0.510 510
26,428,000 13,270

EREERNERZE - BLARFZEETRASIR

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly

the issued share capital of the Company was reduced by
the nominal value of these shares. Pursuant to Companies
Law (revised) of the Cayman Islands, an amount
equivalent to the par value of the shares cancelled of
HK$2,643,000 was transferred from the retained profits to
the capital redemption reserve. The premium paid on the
repurchase of the shares of HK$10,627,000 was charged
to the retained profits.

(c) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at
balance sheet date

ZERMZEE - RERASESARE(KEF]) - 8%
RIRAEE2,643,000/8 L2 S EEHRB EHNEREEE
AEEEfEfE o shEE RN B X 42 % E 10,627,000 47T
PMRE & AR o

©  WEERREHRARITEZ B

Exercise price 2009

Exercise period 1TEH TEE —EThEF

20 February 2009 to 19 February 2019 —EENFAZF+HEZE-NF=A+NB HK$0.54 5,000,000
0.54 7T

Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company. Further details of these
options are set out in Note 15 to the accounts.
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15 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(a)

Share option scheme of the Company

The Company has a share option scheme which
was adopted on 17 April 2002 whereby the
Directors of the Company are authorised, at their
discretion, to invite employees (including both
full time and part time employees, and executive
Directors), non-executive Directors, suppliers,
customers and other corporations or individuals
that provide support to the Group (as defined
in the share option scheme) to take up options
to subscribe for shares of the Company. The
maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the share option
scheme may not exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company. The subscription
price is determined by the Company’s Board of
Directors and will not be less than the higher of
(i) the nominal value of the Company’s ordinary
shares; (i) the closing price of the Company’s
ordinary shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of offer; and (jii) the average closing price
of the Company’s ordinary shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer. The
options vest immediately at the date of grant
and are then exercisable within a period of ten
years. Each share option gives the holders the
right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the
Company.

5,000,000 share options were granted to an
executive director during the current year.

15 EDREEURG XN 2ZRE

(@

AAFERETE

R_ZZ_FMA++H KARDHEMN—A
BERRAERT R B AR B E EERERE RS
BB (BEEZBEZREERNITES) « IEH
TE%  HER  BREEAEMEASEIRES
B2 ARIRERAL (EELBREE)ER
FERRHE - RIBADRR ZIMD - BIRERET
A PR 2 BERRERTS R 2 =R H 8B T
SRBARARBBEITRAZ10% - RBERAN
RAIZEZEETE  WBTIPRTIZRSE :
(VA RAREBR 2 EHE : ()R EL) B BT
BHCBHEHRERMINZARAB L BB T
B R(i)RNBEEL B M5 A ES % B B
B FHBERMYZAARLBEZFHUK
TE - BIRENRHBHBNES YR +F2
HARIAA T1T{E - B ERER THE ARE
RAR—RRE BT 2 R o

R E E 3 H15,000,00007 BBHE T — 21T
B=x-
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15 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
(continued)

(@)

Share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

@i

(i)

The terms and conditions of the
grants that existed during the years
are as follows, whereby all options are
settled by physical delivery of shares:

Options granted

to a director

— On 20 February 2009 —A=+H
The number and weighted average
exercise prices of share options are
as follows:

Outstanding at the REREARITHE
beginning of the year

Granted during the year ~ RAZAREERZH

Outstanding at the end RELBARITE
of the year

Exercisable at the end RERAI TATE

of the year

The options outstanding at 31 March 2009
had an exercise price of HK$0.54 and a
weighted average remaining contractual
life of 9.9 years.

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED =

15

BT —REE 2 BRE
~R=BENF

BEAEARD XN ZFHE(E)

(@) ALFERETE(E)

(i)

UTREFEFERBBREZGRRR
Rt - IERRESEBERINKRG
BE

Contractual

Number of Vesting term
options Conditions of options
BREHE BEGG BRESOHER
5,000,000 Nil £ 10 years +4F

(i)

Annual Report 2009

BREZHE RMEFITEENT :

2009
=1

Weighted Number
average of share
exercise price options
IREFGITEE BREHE
HK$0.54 5,000,000
HK$0.54 5,000,000
HK$0.54 5,000,000

RIBEZNF=ZA=+—HAERTRZ
B 2 1TEER0.L4ETT - N1
HTENFHRIIF -
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15
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EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(continued)

(a)

Share option scheme of the Company
(continued)

(iii)

Fair value of share options and
assumptions

The fair value of services received in return
for share options granted is measured
by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair
value of the share options granted is
measured based on a trinomial model. The
contractual life of the share option is used
as an input into this model. Expectations
of early exercise are incorporated into the
trinomial lattice model.

Fair value of share options and assumption

Fair value at measurement date
REtERZ ATFE
Share price

(B

Exercise price
1T1EE

Expected volatility
TEERR IR

Option life

B MR HE<F A
Risk-free interest rate
B R

The expected volatility is based on the
historic volatility. Expected dividends are
based on historical dividends. Change in
the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

15 RBHEEEUROXMSZRE(E)

(@

RARBRESE(E)

(iii)

BAERERAE = 2009 F£3]

BEREAVERRER

BEUR LB FTESRS 2 A FETD
SERREBREZATFENE - IR
HERE 2 A FEDRE=ZRAARN{ G
e BREZANFHAERAER
e HRETELEATBAZE=ZEN
AR o

FERE A FERER

2009
—EFAF

HK$0.40
04078 T
HK$0.54
0.54 87T
HK$0.54
0.54 87T

67.3%

10 years

+4
1.7%

T8 50 8 U8 T LA 5235 0 8 2 o TSR
BT RESE BB AKE - TEBABR
2 BBAHATFEEBREALE -



Notes to the Accounts BR B Kz

For the year ended 31 March 2009 8= — 2T NF=A=+—HILFE

109

15 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
(continued)

(b)

Share option scheme of a subsidiary-ECS
The Company’s subsidiary-ECS has a share
option scheme, the ECS Share Option Scheme
Il (“Scheme II”), which was adopted on 13
December 2000 whereby the directors of ECS
are authorised, at their discretion, to invite
ECS’s employees and directors, including non-
executive directors of ECS and its subsidiaries
(“ECS Group”) to take up options to subscribe
for shares of ECS. The subscription price is
determined by the ECS’s Board of Directors and
is set either at (i) a price equal to the average of
the last dealt price of ECS’s share for the three
consecutive trading days immediately preceding
the grant of the option (ii) a discount to the
market price not exceeding 20% of the market
price in respect of that option. Each share option
gives the holders the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in ECS. The options vest after
one year from the date of grant and are then
exercisable at any time after the first anniversary
of the grant date and in case of option with
exercise price set at a discount, at any time after
the second anniversary of date of grant and
those granted to non-executive directors are
exercisable up to the fifth anniversary of the date
of grant. The scheme will continue to be in force
at the discretion of the compensation committee
of ECS, subject to a maximum period of ten
years commencing 13 December 2000.

No option was granted under Scheme Il during
the current year.

15 RBHEEEUROXMSZRE(E)

(b)

BB 2 BMEZRBHE KV BB AR R =T &

AR BB A R EARRHR 2 AP B BERT
gl (I8N R _FFTF+ A+ =AEK
e BUEEARRESERERNBAFBERNRH
BRZRENEZ(BREENNMELENB AR
(TEARRER ) 2 FRTES) ZRBERE
IRBERR R BN - EAR B EFTEE
TE R E & () BF NI BB E B Hia0 = (@2
B 5B ENBZBRON - FEREEZEX ()
SLBERE M ENITE T EBT(ER 20% -
DB TR ARBENR — T B
ZHEN - BEEREE AP —FREBY AN
B BEDm — FREERTTE - MBRETEE
BiraE - QIR L B SRR FREERT(E
BT HFPTESNRBEEAREH B RRASF
Z BATTEE - AHEREAN KT MEE SRB
REEBEN  A_TETFT_AT+=Hi
RRAHTF -

KA ERERIBET S IR L BAE -
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16 RESERVES 16 f#fE

(@ Group (@) ZA&£E
Available-
Capital for-sale
redemption investments

Share reserve reserve Capital General Translation Other
premium  (Note 14b)  (Note (i) reserve reserve reserve reserve
(Note ) &X  WHE$BE  (Notefii)) (Note(iv)  (Note(y)  (Note (vj) Total  Retained

ROEE BEREE RERE EXBE  -REE  ERREE  HtREHE  reserves  eamings Total
(hti)  (Bratrap)  (Bstm) (W) (W) () (BEe)  RESH  REEF b

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'00!
THx T T THT TR THx THr T T BT

Balance at 1 April 2007 i3
mA—-BZ
g5 88,420 - 2,467 - - 678 - 91,565 191,504 283,069
Exchange difference ERESR = = - - - 52,352 - 52,352 353 52,705
Profit for the year ERF - - - - - - - - 244743 244743
Excess of purchase WEERERB
consideration over the AMEHBAT]
carrying value of share of BEFERA
net assets of a subsidiary ENER - - - - - - (111,790 (111,790) - (11,790)
Disposal of avallable-for-sale  HER &
financial assets MKEAE - - (2,467) - - - - (2,467) - (2,467)
Changes in fair value of e
avallable-for-sale HgAE
financial assets ATEEE - - (5,327) - - - - (5,327) - (5,327)
Issue of ordinary shares BITLER
(Note 14) (Hiit14) 533,207 = = = = = - 533207 - 533207
Transfer of reserves BREEE - - - - 4,426 - - 4,426 (4,426) -
Balance at 31 March 2008 ~ R-ZTN\E
=ZA=t-H
a3 621,627 - (5,327) - 4,426 53030  (111,790) 561,986 482,174 994,140
Balance at 1 April 2008 RZTZNE
mA-BZ
#5 621,627 - (5,327) - 4,426 53,030 (111,790) 561,966 432,174 994,140
Exchange difference ERESR = = - - - (76,252) - (76,252) - (76,252)
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - - - - 231624 231,624
Acquisition of additional P ERE
interest in a subsidiary WEHBAR
from minority shareholders ~ EBSMEZS - - - - - - (14,434)  (14,434) - (14,434)
Disposal of interest in a P ERE
subsidiary to minority HERS
interest AAER = = - - - - (104138  (104138) - (104,139
Equity-settled share-based & EIAR(D
payment Zf$Z 7B - = - 1,978 - - - 1,978 - 1,978
Disposal of available- HERHEE
for-sale financial assets BIsEE - - 5,327 - - - - 5,327 - 5,327
Purchase of own shares: YR SR :
~ premium paid -BXEE - - - - - - - - (10627)  (10627)
—transfer between reserves  — {2 R - 2,643 - - = = - 2,643 (2,643) =
Transfer of reserves BRERE - - = = 4757 = = 4,757 (4,757) =
Balance at 31 March 2009 ~ HW=ZThE
=A=t-H
LB 621,627 2,643 - 1,978 9,183 (23,222) (230,362 381,847 645,771 1,027,618
Representing: fh:
Reserves M 986,118
Proposed dividend HRRE 41,500

1,027,618
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16 RESERVES (continued)

(a)

Group (continued)

Notes:

@

(i)

(i)

)

The share premium account of the Group includes:
(@) the difference between the nominal values of
the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired and
that of the Company issued in exchange pursuant
to the group reorganisation in April 2002; (b)
the capitalisation issue in April 2002; and (c) the
premium arising from the new issue of shares, net
of share issuance costs.

The available-for-sale investment reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of available-for-sale financial assets until the
investments are derecognised or impaired.

The capital reserve comprise the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Company
recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for share-based payments in Note
2.16(d).

According to the current PRC Company Law,
the PRC subsidiaries of the Group are required
to transfer 10% of their profits after taxation to
statutory surplus reserve until the surplus reserve
balance reaches 50% of the registered capital.
For the purpose of calculating the amount to be
transferred to the reserve, the profit after taxation
is the amount determined under PRC accounting
standards. The amount of transfer to this reserve
has to be made before profit distribution to
shareholders. In accordance with the relevant
regulations, this reserve may be used to make up
any losses incurred or to increase the registered
capital of the PRC subsidiaries.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the accounts of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy
set out in Note 2.3(c).
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16 & (&)

(@) #%E#E)

Wit

)

(il

(i)

(v)

V)

AKEZROEEERERE  RE-FT_FNO
A2 B EAMKEE 2 HEB AR RAEEEA
ARMERZIMBETZBAEEZER : (b)=F
Z_FNAZENMOET RO BITHREEZ
BB HRRNETER -

A SR A R AR A BUR R SURER AT H
HEMBEEAFERESFE -

BB IERIBENT T 2.16(d) R R ARG A SR
PRER# 2 & 5t BURTER R T AR AR B ERR sk fh
B 2 WARTTEBREZ 2 ATFEE -

REBERITHEREE - AREFEMEABAR
AELEEBEI0%BRHEREN  BEERES
BENEBGEM B AR 0% - Bt EEBREHEN
28 BRRREMNRDESHEAETE - BEK
HEZRER I AIRRRD RS - RIEFF @R
) - S FT A BRI A IR I P BT
RIEREMEA °

P& 5 A R IET A B E HNB %5 2 8RB FTEA
ZENZERE o ZERBIRRITE2.3(0) FTEl 2 &5t
BRI -
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16 RESERVES (continued)

(a)

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009

Group (continued)
Note: (continued)

(vi)

Other reserves comprise the following:

a)

the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options
granted to employees of the Company
recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in Note 2.16(d).

Other reserve represents the difference
between consideration paid and the
relevant share of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary for the transactions
with minority shareholders (See Note
2.2(c)).

- During the year ended 31 March
2008, the Group acquired an
additional 45.19% interest in ECS
Group from minority shareholders
with an aggregate book value
of HK$518,054,000 at a total
consideration of HK$629,844,000.
The excess of consideration over the
book value of HK$111,790,000 was
treated as an equity transaction.

- During the year ended 31 March
2009, the Group purchased an
additional 1% interest at a total
consideration, including direct
transaction costs of approximately
S$2,505,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,158,000).

- In addition, the Group disposed of
33,000,000 shares (representing
approximately 9.03% interest) in
ECS Holdings Limited at a net
consideration of approximately
S$14,296,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$78,642,000)
to minority shareholders with
an aggregate book value of
HK$122,790,000. The disposal was
effected by the Group in order to
restore the public free float of ECS
in compliance with the listing rules of
the Singapore Stock Exchange and
facilitate the resumption of trading
of ECS’s shares on the Singapore
Stock Exchange on 15 August 2008.
The deficit of consideration over the
book value of HK$44,148,000 was
treated as an equity transaction.

BAZERERAR

16 & (&)

(@) #%E#E)

Wit

(Vi)

= 2009 F3§

(&)

HFEESEATRA:

(@)

ERAAAREERE 2 ERKMAFEE 2
HARITER B E 2 A TFE  BREHE
2.16(d) BEPARRD XA 2 SRIBFTER A & =R
RIERBAL -

HibfFEREEIBERR 2R 2EARE
HEAEHERARFEEREENEE (R
F£2.2(0) °

- BE-TT)\F=A=+-ALF
B AEERDEBRE B ERR
REBEEINSA9% E s - BREF
8 4518,054,0007% 70 * AKRE A
629,844,000/ 7T ° R {E#E L R &
82 111,790,000 JT #5718 & HE 25

25

- HE-ZTAF=A=t+—HLF
B AEBNARE(BEEERS
BXAR) #92,505,000%7 103 7T (FEER
#914,158,000 7 7T ) Y BB EESN 1 % 18
%o

- kA AEBENRFRELD
14,296,000 %1 10 3% 7t (48 & R 4
78,642,000 7T ) M A HBRE HE
33,000,000 IREREHE B R A TR
1 (49159.08% 4% ) + ARBREFE
£122,790,00078 7T ° AN B #1T
HESERBEFMER S ETR
AREEARBEZ ARERE © £
FEERRERAEUR_ZTNEF
NA+TRBEFINERSIREER
& o RERNERE(E Z 44,148,000
EITIAR BERRS) ©
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16 RESERVES (continued) 16 f#fE(E)
(b) Company (b) ZA&AF
Capital
Share  redemption Capital Retained
premium reserve reserve earnings Total
ROEE BARORE uNEY REEF st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAL TAL TAL TAL

Balance at 1 April 2007 RZZEZ+FMA—H
L8 90,103 - - 84,835 174,938
Profit for the year EREH - - - 132,201 132,201
Issue of ordinary shares FITERER
(Note 14) (Bt 14) 533,207 - - - 533,207
Balance at RZTTN\F
31 March 2008 ZA=T—HzH&H 623,310 - - 217,036 840,346
Balance at 1 April 2008 RZZEN\F
MA—Bz&sH 623,310 — = 217,036 840,346
Loss for the year T~EEBR - = = (28,557) (28,557)
Equity-settled share-based S E MR
payment FAF 2T - - 1,978 = 1,978
Purchase of own shares WA SRR
— premium paid -BXITAE - - - (10,627) (10,627)
—transfer between reserves  — il EER - 2,643 = (2,643) -
Balance at RZESNF
31 March 2009 =A=t—-AH
WA i 623,310 2,643 1,978 175,209 803,140
Representing: fh -
Reserves ] 761,640
Proposed dividend RRRE 41,500
803,140
The share premium account of the Company KRR ZBOEERTE : (BE_SZ_FN
represents: (a) the difference between the AZEBER - WBRANEAR A2 H
book values of the underlying net assets of the Z 18 Eﬁiﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁéﬁiﬁ’&ETE‘JtlH:?’éﬁZHﬁTﬁ
subsidiaries at the date on which they were HEZZ®: () =TT =FMA 2 ERLH
acquired by the Company and the nominal 17+ R (o) BATHREL (B - HIRBRO BT
values of the Company’s shares issued under A -

the group reorganisation in April 2002; (b) the
capitalisation issue in April 2002; and (c) the
premium arising from the new issue of shares,
net of share issuance costs.
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16 RESERVES (continued)

(b)

Company (continued)

In accordance with the Companies Law (revised)
of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account is distributable to the shareholders
of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business. The share
premium may also be distributed in the form of
fully paid bonus shares.

17 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables =) ANE
Accruals TEIRRUR
Other payables (Note (a)) E e FRIE
(K152 (@)
Deferred income FEIEUTA

Less:

Notes:

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009

non-current deferred income

WA

On 2 September 2008 and 12 September 2008, the
Company entered into two subscription agreements to
issue 223,533,332 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at
a price of HK$1.00 per share in total. The subscription
agreements have been approved by regulatory
bodies in Hong Kong and the PRC and are in the
finalisation process. As at 31 March 2009, deposits of
HK$121,767,000 for the share placements were included
in other payables. The share placements have not been
completed as at the date of this report.

B IEREBNRAE

16 & (&)

(b)

RNE (#E)

RIEFASHERFEGERT) - BINRERA
DIKRTARBZEER - EEBREZZEDIKZ
Bi& - NRABEAENEEN B EEBBIES
BHZEIR - ROEE A AR T AT
AR

17 B RHEMEMNRKE

Group Company
REE PN/

2009 2008 2009 2008
—ETAF ZE2EN\FE ZZEThE ZZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET FAT
1,770,285 1,543,032 - =
79,697 98,715 2,466 19,874
325,421 181,711 197,962 -
8,346 6,565 - -
2,183,749 1,830,023 200,428 19,874
(4,980) (4,783) - -
2,178,769 1,825,240 200,428 19,874

Hiet:

(@)

RZZEZENFAA-_BER_ZEZENFAA+=H ' AR
RIS IR - SURERR1.0087T 2 B H£81T
223,533,332 B EE0. 108 T 2 B - ZFRER
HEERBRTHEERBIETE RFEREE - K=
TENF=A=1+—H ' BRHEE2E£121,767,000%
TTat AR ENTRIE - HEARE AW - RO EMNE
FERK ©

BAERERAE = 2009 F£3)]
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17 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 17 EBESZRHEMENRKIEE)
Notes: (continued) Hiat: (&)
()  The Group’s suppliers grant credit periods ranging from () AEBZHERATAEEZEEHNTI0EWQA - &
30 to 90 days to the Group. The ageing analysis of trade PEMNRIEZ BRER AT :

payables is as follows:

Group
REE

2009 2008

—EENEF —TEN\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAERT FAT

0 - 60 days 0Z=60H 1,732,258 1,543,032

Over 60 days @60 B 38,027 =

1,770,285 1,643,032

(©)  The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate to () BREREHEREE  ZEEZEMRENRMERLE
their fair values due to their short-term maturities. NEEREE °
(d  The carrying amounts of trade and other payables were ) EBISREMENFEREENLTYIESE :
denominated in the following currencies:
Group Company
AEE NN

2009 2008 2009 2008

—EENF —ETNF —EThE —TTNF

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TAT FExT AT

HK$ BIT 5,382 7,348 124,234 19,874

RMB AR 982,300 679,938 - =

S$ AN TT 197,587 250,477 76,194 =

uss$ e 535,350 622,769 - =

THB B 7S 189,904 138,653 - -

RM =53 212,008 120,330 - -

RP EfeE 56,238 5,725 - -

2,178,769 1,825,240 200,428 19,874
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18

DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary

differences under the liability method.

Movement in net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) is as

follows:

Beginning of the year
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Credited to the consolidated
profit and loss account (Note 25)
Exchange difference

End of the year

F1

Lol WNG]

ARG BER
(K15t 25)
PEHER

£

Movements of the gross deferred tax assets and

liabilities during the year are as follows:

Inventories and trade
receivables provisions

Beginning of the year

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 31 (b))

Credited to the consolidated
profit and loss account

Exchange difference

End of the year

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009

FEREZEK
IR ERE

F1

Lol WNG]
(B1:231(b)

ARG BER

PEHERR

£

18 EIERHIH
EREBRBEN A EEREREZR2HEE -

ELEHIREE (BE) FREHOT

Group

REE
2009 2008
—BThE  ZTINF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
13,464 (200)
- 12,585
10,255 1,299
(1,714) (220)
22,005 13,464

FANRLERIBEER S EEBZIHNOT -

Group

REE
2009 2008
—BThE  ZTINF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
17,281 =
- 14,878
11,761 2,480
(2,083) (77)

26,959 17,281

BAERERAE = 2009 F£3)]
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18 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

18 EZEBLE (&)

Group
REE
2009 2008
—EENF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Accelerated tax depreciation IERFLIETE FET T
Beginning of the year F1) (3,817) (200)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U EE BT B A7)
(Note 31 (b)) (#153#31(0b)) - (2,293)
Charged to the consolidated RiFE1EmRNR
profit and loss account (1,506) (1,181)
Exchange difference PE 5 Z=RE 369 (143)
End of the year FI (4,954) (3,817)
19 BORROWINGS 19 EE
Group Company
REE PN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—ETAFE ZZETN\F ZZETAEFE ZETN\HF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BiEE FHBT FHIT FHET FAET
Non-current IER B
Unsecured bank borrowings EIRRIRITEE (9 351,135 351,513 - =
Secured bank borrowings BEMRITEE () 198,000 = 198,000 =
Finance lease liabilities BMEMERE ©) 857 6 - -
549,992 351,519 198,000 -
Current TED
Bank overdrafts (Note 13) BITEX
(B15£13) 11,337 7,772 - —
Unsecured bank borrowings EIERIRITEE (9 509,781 882,632 - =
Secured bank borrowings BEMEITEE (O 132,000 776,400 132,000 776,400
Finance lease liabilities REHEAE © 245 107 - =
653,363 1,666,911 132,000 776,400
Total borrowings B d) 1,203,355 2,018,430 330,000 776,400
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19

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009

BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Unsecured bank borrowings

The loans are unsecured and bear interest at rate as
disclosed in section (d) below. The loans are repayable
within twelve months except for a syndicated loan
amount of HK$351,135,000 (2008: HK$351,513,000)
which is repayable on 18 January 2011. A negative
pledge has given in respect of all of the assets of certain
subsidiaries with total net book value at 31 March 2009 of
approximately HK$1,183,000,000 (2008: approximately
HK$434,000,000).

Secured bank borrowings

On 30 September 2008, the Company entered into a term
loan facility agreement (“Term Loan Facility Agreement”)
relating to a HK$330,000,000 term loan facility (“Term
Loan Facility”) with a syndicate of banks for the purpose
of refinancing the bridge loan granted to the Company by
a bank for financing the Company’s acquisition of shares
in ECS during the year ended 31 March 2008. The Term
Loan Facility bears interest at HIBOR plus 2.0% and has
a term a three years commencing from the date of the
Term Loan Facility Agreement and repayable in five equal
instalments. The first instalment will be repayable by 30
September 2009 with the remaining instalments repayable
semi-annually. The loan is secured by 51% of equity
interest in ECS.

Certain financial covenants of the Term Loan Facility have
not been complied with at the balance sheet date. The
banks have granted a waiver in respect of these financial
covenants at the balance sheet date.

19

BAZERERAR

BE(E)

Bt -

(a)

(b)

BIEARTEE

ERAEERRIET X (d)EEZFEGSE - ERER

128 B R{EE - HIREE 351,135,000 L (= F

J\F : 351,513,000 L) BIZBER =T ——F— A+ N
BEE - BN 2T hE=A=+—BEKRMFED

1,183,000,000/8 7T (ZZZ )\ : 49434,000,0007%7T)

HIFTE M B A R & E(EH TR IRRTE o

BEMRTEE
%*?ﬁ)\inﬂ =18 * AAF]F330,000,0007 7TE
HEE ((EHERRE ) BiRE Y —BEHER
ﬂﬁmmﬂm%E KA e ) - NEFHE —KET
RARFRBE-_ZZN\F=A=+—BLFEHHLK
BEABEROGEFARRZBEER - EHERRE
REBRITREREM2.0%:TE  TEHERRE HH
E%EHE%ZE DAAUBRSSHEEE - EBE
RZZETHEAA=THEMN  EBEARRSEE
ER - BERAERRHRR AR 2 51% HIF o

TEHERBES THHEEER
TEREE B RS0 HEE

HEBEAEST - AR
SRR

= 2009 F3§



119
Notes to the Accounts BR B FfizE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 8= —ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

19 BORROWINGS (continued) 19 EE(#E)
Notes: (continued) Hiet - (8)
() Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the () HBREANESEENEMNRETFHEA HHEEERE
leased asset revert to the lessor in the event of default. BERAEE o
Group
TEE
2009 2008
—EZAEF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Gross finance lease liabilities REREAFEEE
— minimum lease payments: —EAEHE :
No later than one year —&FR 265 121
Later than one year and —FERF
no later than five years 934 9
1,199 130
Future finance charges RUE M E AR
on finance leases A H (97) (17)
1,102 113
The present value of finance lease REHESEEN
liabilities is as follows: WEWT :
No later than one year —FR 245 107
Later than one year and —FERF
no later than five years 857 6
1,102 113
(d) At 31 March 2009, the Group’s borrowings were d R-SBEEAF=A=1+—-H G XEEEEBENEEND
repayable as follows: T
Group Company
T5E AT
Bank borrowing Financial
and overdrafts lease liabilities Total Bank borrowing
RITEEREX MEHEAE &t RITEE
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
“EETAE ZTTN\F ZETAF ZTT)/\F —TTNEF ZTT/\F ZZTENE ZTTN\F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TERT FHAT TET FHAT TET FHAT TERT FHAT
Within 1 year —FR 653,118 1,666,804 245 107 653,363 1,666,911 132,000 776,400
Between 1 and 2 years —EEWF 549,135 = 857 6 549,992 6 198,000 =
Between 2 and 5 years MEERE - 351,513 - - - 351513 - =
Wholly repayable within 5 years T 4F AIZEEK
BE 1,202,253 2,018,317 1,102 113 1,203,355 2,018,430 330,000 776,400
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19 BORROWINGS (continued) 19 EE (&)
Notes: (continued) Miat - (&)
The effective interest rates at 31 March 2009 were as follows: RZZBTENF=ZA=+—HHOERMEET :
Bank overdrafts BITEX 6.50% — 10.00%
Unsecured bank borrowings EIEARITEER 1.68% — 6.35%
Secured bank borrowings BEMRITEE 3.49%
Finance lease liabilities MEEEAME 10.00%
The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate to their fair EENETmEEEATERE -
values.
The carrying amounts of the borrowings were denominated in the EEMBEEEN T E%HE -

following currencies:

Group Company
AEE ¥ NG|

2009 2008 2009 2008
—EZAF T N\F —EEAF —ZEENF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT FHT FAT
HK$ BT 330,000 776,400 330,000 776,400
RMB AR 150,583 132,517 - =
S$ Fngoo 30,600 53,670 - =
uss$ 7T 453,216 672,329 - =
THB BTN 95,549 168,128 - =
RM ik 143,407 215,363 - =
RP ENfEE - 23 - =
1,203,355 2,018,430 330,000 776,400

20 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 20 BAFEIIABRERNEGHBEEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Group
AEEH
2009 2008
—EENE —ETN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THET
Derivative at fair value through BATEYIAEZER
profit or loss ROTET R
— Forward foreign — = HASNES A
exchange contracts - 23,667
The fair value of other financial liabilities at fair value BEAFEIABEENEGYHBEaENERRITE
through profit or loss was based on current bid price. AfE °
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE =TT hF=A=+—HILFE

21 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 21 EXERIHER
Turnover represents gross invoiced sales, net of BEEIE T N E M ITHI NIE R - RNEFERNIER
discounts and returns. Revenue recognised during the ZWEITR

year is as follows:

2009 2008

—ZETAF ZETNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx T

Distribution oAk = 15,704,415 9,742,125
Enterprise systems TERF 6,208,121 2,519,627
IT services BB R 178,736 88,770

22,091,272 12,350,522

(a) Primary reporting format - business (@) FEE2HRHN —EKHI

segments

The main business segments of the Group are REENFEEBHBOEMNT -

the following:

Segments Principal activities

P FEXK

Distribution Distribution of IT products (desktop PCs, notebooks, handhelds, printers, hard
disk, memory device, etc) for the commercial and consumer markets.

2 REEMBETSDHEEMBMEER (R FEH - FLARBER - FIREMK - 1T
ENtk - 1848 - RRIRBS) -

Enterprise systems Provider of enterprise system tools (middleware, operating systems, Unix/NT
servers, databases, storage and security products) for IT infrastructure.

EEFEG B AR R B E RS TA (REMY - BIERLL © Unix/NT RS - 2R
B EERRTER) HER -

IT services IT infrastructure design and implementation, training, maintenance and support
services.

BB AR BB B R MR KRBT - 1F9 - RIS RSB RTS o
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21 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 21 BEBERIPER(E)
(continued)
(@) Primary reporting format - business (@) EEE2HAHIR -—ZBOE(E)
segments (continued)
The segment results for the year ended 31 HE_ZTNF=RA=T—HILFENSE X
March 2009 are as follows: ST
Enterprise
Distribution systems IT services Unallocated Group
&

oH  ERRE  NEERE ROE rRHE
HK$'000 ~ HK$O000  HK$000 ~ HK$000  HK$E000
TET THAT FAT TET THET

Total segment revenue 7 #fUiizm4@%8 15,704,415 6,208,121 178,736 - 22,091,272
Segment results DEEE 262,810 130,002 10,593 2,947 406,352
Finance costs V5 ER (93,094)
313,258

Share of profit of Ak YN

an associate i A 5,156
Profit before taxation BR7%:ATEF 318,414
Taxation I8 (56,605)
Profit for the year FERA 261,809
Other segment items included in the STAGEERRNEMOFEENT
consolidated profit and loss account are as
follows:

Year ended 31 March 2009
BE-ZENF=ZA=+—HLEE
Enterprise
Distribution systems IT services Group
&R
D hERS B R REE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FHT FAT

Depreciation e 10,092 5,940 174 16,206
Inventory provision GFEREE 20,695 = = 20,695
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE =TT hF=A=+—HILFE

21 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 21 EEBERIBER(E)
(continued)
(@) Primary reporting format - business (@) EEE2HAHIR -—ZBOE(E)
segments (continued)
The segment results for the year ended 31 BT \F=ZA=+T—HBILFENDBE
March 2008 are as follows: ST
Enterprise
Distribution systems IT services Unallocated Group
&

oH  ERRE  NEERE ROE rRHE
HK$'000 ~ HK$O000  HK$000 ~ HK$000  HK$E000
TET THAT FAT TET THET

Total segment revenue D Efiizi@8E 9,742,125 2,519,627 88,770 - 12,350,522
Segment results DEEE 302,069 55,330 4,714 12,430 374,543
Finance costs V5 ER (44,587)
329,956

Share of loss of DAGEE

an associate AR)EE (693)
Profit before taxation BR%{ AT F 329,263
Taxation HIE (69,710)
Profit for the year FERA 259,553
Other segment items included in the A EIERRMEM D EER AT
consolidated profit and loss account are as
follows:

Year ended 31 March 2008
BE-ZZ/\F=ZA=+—HLEFE
Enterprise
Distribution systems IT services Group
=il
D ERS B R rEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FHT FAT

Depreciation e 5,377 2,717 94 8,188
Inventory provision GFEREE 3,241 = = 3,241
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #Z =—ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

21 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 21 EBEXERIFER(E)
(continued)
(@) Primary reporting format - business (@) EEE2HAHIR -—ZBOE(E)
segments (continued)
The segment assets and liabilities at 31 March —ETNF-A=t—HNHBPEERABRESR
2009 and capital expenditure for the year then HEZBIEFENERRZNT -

ended are as follows:

Business segment

ES)Sansil

Enterprise
Distribution systems IT services Unallocated Group

&R

k| EERS B R ROE REE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET

Total assets BEE 2,513,024 1,255,850 33,527 952,610 4,755,011
Total liabilities FEN= 1,492,008 674,536 17,447 1,219,728 3,403,719
Capital expenditure BERE 14,227 6,973 346 = 21,546
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 8= —ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

21 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(a)

Primary reporting format - business
segments (continued)

The segment assets and liabilities at 31 March
2008 and capital expenditure for the year then
ended are as follows:

21 BEBERIPER(E)

(@

FEEHHIRN-EBIHB(E)

—EENFZA=THNOMEERAESR
BEZALFENEAFRSAT

Business segment

EXAI
Enterprise
Distribution systems  IT services Unallocated Group
&
pak:| TERSG RE R RAE r5H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHL FAL FHIL
Total assets BERE 2,922,282 1,291,752 48,955 832,680 5,095,669
Total liabilities BAarfE 1,274,697 534,492 20,834 2,076,072 3,906,095
Capital expenditure EeNGET 4,844 2,233 105 = 7,182

Segment assets consist primarily of property,
plant and equipment, inventories and trade and
other receivables. Unallocated assets comprise
goodwill, interests in an associate, deferred tax
assets, available-for-sale financial assets, cash

DHEETEBRYE BEMARE FE

B 5 M EAMEWFIR - R HE:&F‘@%%%
REFERRRER  EEHRREE - AIHHE
MHBEE  RERREFEY - HbRKFR
K IERFRIR

and cash equivalents, other receivables and
prepayment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 ##E —ZZNF=H=+—HILFE

21

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Primary reporting format - business
segments (continued)

Segment liabilities comprise of operating
liabilities. Unallocated liabilities comprise of items
such as taxation payable, deferred tax liabilities,
other financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss and borrowings.

Capital expenditure comprises of additions to
property, plant and equipment (Note 5).

Secondary reporting format — geographical
segments

The Group’s three business segments operate
in two main geographical areas: North Asia
and South East Asia. North Asia includes China
and Hong Kong. South East Asia includes
Thailand, Malaysia, Singapore, Indonesia and
the Philippines.

Revenue Yz
North Asia il
South East Asia REo

Revenue is allocated based on the country in
which the customer is located.

Total assets HEE
North Asia Jtga

South East Asia HEo
Unallocated assets ROBLEE

Total assets are allocated based on where the
assets are located.

21

LERENRSBES(E)

(@

(b)

FEEHHIRN-EBIHB(E)

DEHARBREERE - ROEABERERMN
BIR - RERBEE - RAFEINABRRN
Hi s aERMEESFHEE -

BARAXBREYE - BELRERE (HES)

REZHHN —ES EB

AEEN=—EXBOBEMRETIBHELE
HERREE - AT REFEREE - R
BEFE - FRED K HERIER

==

ﬁo

2009 2008
—22RE  —TE)\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# Tt
14,493,132 9,145,061
7,598,140 3,205,461
22,091,272 12,350,522
iR R PR SR -
2009 2008
—22RE  —TE)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# Tt
2,085,633 2,518,945
1,716,768 1,744,044
3,802,401 4,262,989
952,610 832,680
4,755,011 5,095,669

REERBEEMEMIR
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE =TT hF=A=+—HILFE

21 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 21 EEBERIBER(E)
(continued)
(b) Secondary reporting format - geographical b) REEHHX-HESIHE)

segments (continued)

2009 2008
—EBENEF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Capital expenditure EXEX
North Asia Bl 5,576 3,160
South East Asia e 15,970 4,022
21,546 7,182
Capital expenditure is allocated based on where BARRZIBIEEEEM DR -
the assets are located.
22 OTHER GAINS, NET 22 HtW#=FHE
2009 2008
—EBENEF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest income F B A 9,233 5,573
Dividend income from available- A E B EER B A
for-sale financial assets - 2,967
(Loss)/gain on disposal of available- HERMEHENEEEZ (Bi8), s
for-sale financial assets (8,004) 5,305
(Loss) on disposal of property, HEYE  BEEREZ (BE)
plant and equipment (96) (85)
Net fair value gain of derivative TESBMT AN QT EWRFEE
financial instruments 1,718 4,158
Other service fee income HAb RIS EWA - 2,756
Net exchange gain b Uk e SR8 5,087 2,350
Other income EUgA 3,659 4,513
12,497 27,537
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #Z =—ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

23

24

OPERATING PROFIT

Operating profit is derived after charging the following:

Cost of inventories
Staff costs, including directors’
emoluments
— Salaries, allowance and welfare
— Provident fund contributions
Equity-settled share-based payment
Operating lease rentals in respect of
premises and warehouse
Auditors’ remuneration
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Provision for inventories
Impairment of trade receivables

FINANCE COSTS

Interest expense on:
— Bank overdrafts and import loans
— Unsecured bank borrowings
— Secured bank borrowings
— Notional interest on put option
— Finance lease liabilities

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009

23 REnA
R NERAT ZIBMRE

FERA
BTN (BRESEME)

— & - ERREN

—RIEEHR
BRBEEARN XN 2R
MERERZEEHERS

Gl
WE - BELREBITE

FEEE
B 5 MR R E

24 MBEM

THBBEZHEFAX :

—RITEX MEDER
—EEMRTEE
—AHEMRTEER

— AR ERN B
—REHERRE

2009 2008
- —ET)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TAT
21,021,114 11,677,900
309,506 177,162
25,530 5,687
1,978 -
35,546 18,985
5,375 7,596
16,206 8,188
20,695 3,241
24,472 13,945
2009 2008
- —EEN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx TAT
6,300 5,034
55,977 22,842
27,819 16,700
2,922 -

76 11

93,094 44,587
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 8= —ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

129

25 TAXATION

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated
profit and loss account represents:

Current taxation ANEATH IR
— Hong Kong profits tax —EENEH
— Overseas taxation —/BINRIE

Over-provision of Hong Kong profits
tax in prior years

Over-provision of overseas taxation
in prior years

Deferred taxation (Note 18)

In February 2008, the Hong Kong Government
announced a decrease in the profits tax rate from
17.5% to 16.5% applicable to the Group’s operations
in Hong Kong as from the year ended 31 March 2009.
This decrease is taken into account in the preparation
of the Group’s and the Company’s 2009 accounts.
Accordingly, the provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax
for 2009 is calculated at 16.5% (2008: 17.5%) of the
estimated assessable profits for the year.

Overseas taxation has been calculated based on the
estimated assessable profit for the year at rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.
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EIEFAIA (152 18)

BiIE
PR B BRI 2 IR TS

BREFEEENSHBRRE
BEFEBINRBRERERE

2009 2008
—BBhE ZFEINE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
24,065 42,515
49,412 30,882
(259) (650)
(6,358) (1,738)
(10,255) (1,299)
56,605 69,710

R-ZZEEZNF_A EBBRFEHAEHRHEH
175%ME165% B_EZENF=A=+—H1
FEREBANASENREBZER - REAEER
ARBIZ _ZTAFREBEEETABRIE -
It ZZEENFEERABFEH IRE R A
16.5% (ZZZ/)\F : 17.5%) Je B o

BINRIBIRF RN Z AT RRBOE MIAREB L LA
EBRERNBEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #Z =—ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

25 TAXATION (continued) 25 BE(E)
The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation REBKRBMANGHN ZHBEEFRAEEHRTE 218
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise meREsERENMT

using the taxation rate of Hong Kong as follows:

2009 2008
—EBHhE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiBT
Profit before taxation R A B2 A 318,414 329,263
Calculated at a taxation rate of B EA16.6% (ZFZ)\F : 17.5%)
16.5% (2008: 17.5%) HE 2 HIE 52,538 57,621
Effect of different tax rates in different TR BAER TR R 2 22
tax jurisdictions 6,629 8,266
Income not subject to taxation BAGR . WA (1,793) (976)
Expenses not deductible for MBS 5 NMEHIR 2 s
taxation purposes 6,482 5,918
Over-provision in prior years BEFE 2 BERREE (6,617) (2,388)
Tax losses for which no deferred tax W EREIRELER B E ENRIEEE
assets were recognised 3,250 1,171
Utilisation of tax losses previously B A LARI AR TSR 2 Tt IE B 18
not recognised (3,884) -
Others HAth - 98
Taxation charge FRIES 56,605 69,710

26 PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS 26 ZARAERREGER

OF THE COMPANY

The profit attributable to shareholders of the Company RARBIERE PRIEZ AD R MR B R F AEIE
is dealt with in the accounts of the Company to the 28,557,00087T (ZZF \4F : % H132,201,000 %
extent of a loss of HK$28,557,000 (2008: profit of IT) °

HK$132,201,000).

27 DIVIDENDS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 27 HEmBFEAEGLRE
SHAREHOLDERS
2009 2008
—ZETAF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T
Final dividend proposed after the RESE BREER RIS
balance sheet date of HK3.8 cents A% E3EA% 3.8 711l
per ordinary share (2008:Nil). (ZZENF &) 41,500 -

The proposed final dividend after the balance sheet REEERBERAHR ST ENEEABRAARG -
date has not been recognised as a liability at the

balance sheet date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE =TT hF=A=+—HILFE

28 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company of HK$231,624,000 (2008:
HK$244,743,000) and the weighted average of
1,111,029,000 shares (2008: 1,020,335,000 shares)
in issue during the year.

Issued ordinary shares at the
beginning of the year (thousands)
Placement of ordinary shares
Effect of shares repurchased
(Note 14(b))

B EEk

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares at the end
of the year (thousands)

Basic earnings per share
(HK cents per share)

Diluted

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for
the year is based on the profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of HK$231,624,000
(2008: HK$244,7483,000) and the weighted
average number of shares of 1,111,065,000 (2008:
1,020,385,000 shares), calculated as follows:

BRBh <8

28

BRER

HAKR

FRERBF TIRBEFARNQ B ESFE ARG G
#231,624,000%8 7L (ZFF )\ F : 244,743,000
T0) AR B 34T D 2 hn#E 39 #11,111,029,000 A%
—ZFT )\ : 1,020,335,000 %) Mzt e

REYIRITE B (T3

(B1az 14(0)

RELEBRIE TSR (TE)

FREREN (FEGE)

2009 2008
—BBhE ZFENE
1,117,667 931,667
- 88,668

(6,638) -
1,111,029 1,020,335
20.85 23.99

REE 2z BREERF TR AR RERFE ARG
5 H231,624,0008 7T (ZEE )\ £ :244,743,000 7
70 ) KB hdeE - 25 201,111,065,000 % ( ZZZ N\
£ :1,020,335,000 f&) T & T :

2009 2008
—EEhF ZETNF
Weighted average number of ordinary B 277 & @A #1580 (T
shares in issue (thousands) 1,111,029 1,020,335
Adjustment for assumed conversion  FEE (R X EEAEEER) (T51)
of share options (thousands) 36 -
Weighted average number of ordinary st E &R # SR T 2 L@
shares for diluted earnings hnEFHE (FEH)
per share (thousands) 1,111,065 1,020,335
Diluted earnings per share EiEsE R (FRBI)
(HK cents per share) 20.85 23.99
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 ##E —ZZNF=H=+—HILFE

29 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 29 EERSAREEEMNE

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments (@ E=M<
The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid or RERNENSKENTARARTES M BEN
payable to Directors of the Company during the ™

year are as follows:

2009 2008
—EENF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Fees we 307 350
Other emoluments i
— Basic salaries and housing —E A KERZER
allowances 9,995 777
— Discretionary bonus —EIBIE4L 6,498 3,757
— Contributions to pension —RURGT B
scheme 357 241
- Equity-settled — e B AR D S 2 B
share-based payments 1,978 -
19,135 11,525
The remuneration of each Director for the year REEZZZNGEF=-—A=1T—"HILFE  T&F
ended 31 March 2009 is set out below: E2MEEHINT ¢
Basic Equity-
salaries and Contribution settled
housing to pension share-based
allowance Discretionary scheme payment
Name of Director Fees EXFHFER bonus BIRGHE RREEUR Total
=g e EEEE [k =grAe HER BEAFZRS &3t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T TR TAT TAET TET

Executive Directors HTES
Li Jialin FEM - 5,175 500 284 - 5,959
Tay Eng Hoe Tay Eng Hoe - 2,388 5,598 3i 1,978 9,995
William Ong FEN = 683 100 7 = 790
Chan Hoi Chau BN - 587 300 12 - 899
William Choo Wiliam Choo - 1,162 - 23 - 1,185
Independent non-executive B IFHITES
Directors
Chan Po Fun, Peter e e 2% 106 - - - - 106
Ni Zhenwei {RHx(E 73 - - - - 73
Li Wei £ 89 - - - - 89
Hui Hiu Fai i 39 - - - - 39
307 9,995 6,498 357 1,978 19,135
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE =TT hF=A=+—HILFE

29 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 29 EENSREEEME (E)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

B (E)
RBE_ZTZN\F=A=+—HILFE 8F
EZMEEINT

(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a)
The remuneration of each Director for the year
ended 31 March 2008 is set out below:

Basic
salaries and Contribution
housing to pension
allowance Discretionary scheme
Name of Director Fees EXHFER bonus BIREtE Total
EEp e EERE BETEA H &&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHT FHL FAT FAT FHAT
Executive Directors HITES
Li Jialin ZEM - 4,422 - 223 4,645
William Choo William Choo - 1,638 1,000 - 2,638
Tay Eng Hoe Tay Eng Hoe = 1,117 2,757 18 3,892
Non-executive Director ~ JEHITE S
Sun Ali HBF] 6 - - - 6
Cheng Kam Chung Ei5iE - - - - -
Independent BYIENTES
non-executive Directors
Chan Po Fun, Peter BREZS 120 - - - 120
Ni Zhenwei fRAR(E 64 - - - 64
Li Wei ZE 60 - - - 60
Hui Hiu Fai FREEE 100 - - - 100
350 777 3,757 241 11,525

X EZEEMERESI N TIB T
BE4307,0008 7L (ZFZ )\ F : 344,0007%8
JL) °

Directors’ emoluments disclosed above
include approximately HK$307,000 (2008:
HK$344,000) paid to independent non-
executive Directors.

FABER LA L NEMNES(ZTEN
FBE) FRREBERFMARNEENKEN
AREE R 2 ZEY A RBERIE -

No emoluments have been paid to these
individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office during year (2008: Nil).

During the year, no Director of the Company
waived any emoluments (2008: Nil).
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29

30

VST HOLDINGS LIMITED = Annual Report 2009

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 29 EERSHEEEME ()
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals b) BEEEREHAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were REB 7 hEZRFATBEMREG(ZTEEN
the highest in the Group for the year included F:=ZR)EF REZHMEER EXFRE7
two (2008: three) Directors whose emoluments 2O RE - RERIMNFEHK=R(=Z
are reflected in the analysis presented above. TNE : MB) AT 2T -
The emoluments payable to the remaining three
(2008: two) individuals during the year are as
follows:
2009 2008
—EBENEF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Basic salaries and allowances — EZR# 4 [k)=28L 3,910 1,491
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 7,070 3,647
Contributions to pension RIRETEIHR
schemes 463 66
11,443 5,204
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e FTHIEHE :
Number of individuals
AE
Emolument band e E 2009 2008
—EBENEF e AN
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 &7t & 3,000,000 & 7T - 2
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 /& 7T £ 4,000,000 7T 2 -
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7% 7T £ 4,500,000 /87T 1 -

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A claim was made on a subsidiary, The Value
Systems Co., Limited, which was named as a second
defendant in a law suit for copyright infringement
amounting to Baht 170,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$45,000,000) in the prior year. The Central
Intellectual Property and International Trade Court of
Thailand has ruled that the subsidiary was not liable
for the damages claimed by the plaintiff. Although the
plaintiff has filed an appeal, based on legal opinion
obtained, the Directors are of the view that the claim
has no merit and accordingly, no provision for the
claim is required at 31 March 2009.

30

RAREE

Ff$/8 A 7 The Value Systems Co., Limited ZF R —5
% % 170,000,000 Z=#k (A8 5574 45,000,000 % 7T ) B 1=
LRGP HEFREE _WEMERE - FTEHF
RANBEERBEEZ S EEHTZNB R RBER
RERINREGSS - BARERL E5F - HERE
FSEEER  EERAEREEEEKE AR
“ETNFE=F=1+—AWERREEL B -
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 8= —ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

31 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 31

FERTREBRRMEE

STATEMENT
(a) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to (a) BRBIANEFIELEETHFEECRSFE Y
net cash generated from operations Rk
2009 2008
—EEhEF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T
Profit before taxation R A BT A 318,414 329,263
Interest income B YA (9,233) (5,573)
Interest expense MBFRAZ 93,094 44,587
Dividend income from AL SHE B EERREUWA
available-for-sale financial
assets - (2,967)
Depreciation of property, W - BB RRETTE
plant and equipment 16,206 8,188
Share of result of an associate D {RE#E A RIRIZELE (5,156) 693
Equity-settled share-based EREEARNZF RS
payment 1,978 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE  BE MR EEE
plant and equipment 96 85
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HER e K EERIE
available-for-sale (Uezs)
financial assets 8,004 (5,305)
Net fair value change on BATEY ABEIRA B 75
other financial liabilities BEMNAFEZS
at fair value through
profit or loss (1,718) 4,158
Operating profit before EBEE BB 2 KR
working capital changes 421,685 373,129
Changes in working capital LEE
Trade and other receivables Z 5 R EH A FERGRIA (4,401) (280,987)
Inventories A 235,152 (227,757)
Trade and other payables E 5 REMEMFRIE 181,244 148,922
Other financial liabilities at fair R AFEF| ABREME M B E &
value through profit or loss (23,667) 19,509
Net cash generated from KEFSIRE 5
operations 810,013 32,816
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 #Z =—ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

31 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 31
STATEMENT (continued)

(b) Acquisition of subsidiaries (b)
During the year ended 31 March 2008,
the Group acquired 52.5% interest in ECS
Holdings Limited on 30 October 2007. The
acquired business contributed revenue of
approximately HK$6,728,761,000 and net profit
of approximately HK$67,731,000 to the Group
for the period from 1 November 2007 to 31
March 2008. If the acquisition had occurred
on 1 April 2007, the revenue contributed to
the Group would have been approximately
HK$17,789,134,000, and the net profit
contributed to the Group for the year would have
been approximately HK$171,538,000.

Purchase consideration IRERA(E -
— Cash paid —B2f8e
— Direct costs relating to — WS AB A B B R AR
the acquisition
Total purchase consideration WEEBRE

Fair value of net assets acquired P % & A 1A

— shown as below — TR
Goodwill acquired from WEEHT B A AR PR
the subsidiary
Goodwill (Note 6) BESCZT)

The goodwill is attributable to the workforce
of the acquired business and the significant
synergies expected to arise after the Group’s
acquisition of ECS.
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FERETREBHRMEE(F)

WEEH B AR
REE-_ZTTNEF=A=1+—RHILEE &X&
ER-—ZTT+F+ A=+ HWEBEAREAER
NAE525%BE - R=_TE+F+—H—H
E2TEN\F=ZA=+—B -5 ' FrEZE
75 55 A W 25 49 6,728,761,000 78 JT M it F 7 58
#167,731,000/8 L ° WK ER =T F Y
A—R#ET AATEETRNKEEALD
17,789,134,000/8 7T * ME N AL B R E
A F B E A49 171,538,000 7T ©

HK$'000

FAT
680,835

16,839
697,674
(581,040)
179,343

295,977

BEREMEBETNET - AREWEBENR
REIL TR A B AR E Wz
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31 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 31 FEBREREBRMET (F)
STATEMENT (continued)
(b) Acquisition of subsidiaries (continued) (b) WEBHIELATR ()
The assets and liabilities as at 30 October 2007 TR+ F+A=+H ARBELENEEN
arising from the acquisition are as follows: afEmr
Acquiree’s
Fair value carrying amount
NEE FriE A A M REE
S$'000 HK$'000 S$000 HK$'000
FHINSE T FHEL  FEFIET FHET
Cash and cash equivalents ReE MR EEY 29,195 156,193 29,195 156,193
Property, plant and equipment M - BE MR E 10,220 55,676 10,232 54,736
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ AI{ESEEN K EE 708 3,788 708 3,788
Deferred tax assets BT A E 2,781 14,878 2,781 14,878
Interest in an associate JiN/NE[: o) e 6,792 36,337 6,792 36,337
Inventories "E 160,413 858,210 160,413 858,210
Goodwil kS 33,5622 179,343 33,522 179,343
Trade and other receivables B 5 I H At FE RO 411,071 2,199,235 411,071 2,199,235
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A IR (240,793)  (1,288,243) (240,793)  (1,288,243)
Borrowings e (193,344) (1,034,390) (193,344) (1,034,390)
Deferred income WA (399) (2,135) (399 (2,135)
Taxation payable FERTFEIR (2,697) (14,429) (2,697) (14,429)
Minority interest DB R R (10,478) (56,057) (10,478) (56,057)
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEE (429) (2,293) (383) (2,049)
Net assets BEFE 206,562 1,106,113 206,620 1,105,417
Minority interest (47.5%) DER RS
(47.5%) (525,079)
Net assets acquired Pk &= FE 581,040
Purchase consideration IR & HEEH
settled in cash WEERE 697,674
Cash and cash equivalents in FTig BRI 2 AR
subsidiaries acquired Re kR eEED (156,193)
Cash outflow on acquisition BRI 2 541,481
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32
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COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES
As at 31 March 2008, the Group had future aggregate
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases as follows:

—%FR
—FERF

Not later than one year
Later than one year and
not later than five years

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of
properties and items of plant and machinery and office
equipment held under operating leases. The leases
typically run for an initial period of one to three years,
with an option to renew the lease when all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals.

32

REHEQRRE
R-ZZEZENF=ZA=1+—RH  AEBRETAIHH
ZREROMAE BRRERSEENT

Land and buildings

RS
2009 2008
—2ThE  —TINF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT Tt
41,853 30,915
32,617 34,559
74,470 65,474

AEBRZEMERELEHOE T 2B MR &
WRERBEREA - BOZNTFH—KR—ZE=
FoAREBRERYENERAEGR - SEHOE
BRAEE -
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Notes to the Accounts BR B FfizE

For the year ended 31 March 2009 8= —ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

139

33

34

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The following transactions were carried out with
related parties:

(@) Director’s quarter

The Group entered into a rental agreement with
Joint Honour Development Limited, a company in
which Mr. Li Jialin, the Chairman and an executive
Director of the Company is a major shareholder,
in respect of a director’s quarter. Pursuant to
the agreement, the Group paid a monthly rental
of HK$200,000 (2008: HK$150,000) to Joint
Honour Development Limited.

(b) Key management compensation (including
the amounts disclosed in note 29)

Basic salaries and allowances
Discretionary bonuses IEIEAT
Contribution to pension scheme R {REH 2T

Equity-settled share-based B EE ARG
payments XAt
SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The Group intends to spin off ECS ICT Bhd (“ECSB”),
an indirectly owned subsidiary of the Company, for
separate listing on Main Board of Bursa Securities
in Malaysia by way of the public initial offer and
vendor sale of ECSB shares. Upon completion of the
transaction, the Group will decrease its shareholding in
ECSB from 53.26% to 35.86%. ECSB has submitted
the application for the proposed listing to the
Securities Commission of Malaysia on 18 June 2009.
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EXE M2/

33

34

BREALRS
AT REEREATETZIRS ¢

(@) EEES
REEFBERNAREFERATESTEMNLEE
BEERRE 2 A"l Joint Honour Development
Limited st —fRIE S EE5]Z —AEE = - 1R
i - ANEE EJoint Honour Development
Limited 3 fi A 7 200,000 7T ( — T Z )\ & :
150,000/ 7C) ©

b) FEEEAEMES (BFEAKFE20HE2FE)

2009 2008
—22RE  —TE)\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# Tt
20,752 7,674
15,315 3,757
1,057 265
1,978 =
39,102 11,696

HEHZEE

AEEEEEBAHBRBEREFHEARAN
MKt EB A FIECS ICT Bhd([ECSBI) A% © #4F
ECSBEGRALEFR BATERBIL LT - %R 5
TRk TE - ANEBRECSB 2 RAEH H53.26% A&
35.86% ° ECSBERZZZNF N A+/\BRERA

CERFERRBEHFERLT

BAERERAT = 2009 F£3K




140

Financial Summary %8 Z

AEERERAVRFRE 2 ZEUNREERBEHEHT

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of

the Group for the last five financial years is set out below: O
RESULTS E4
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HILLEE
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
—EERE ZTENF TE+F —TERF —TTRF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FA&TT T T
(Note)
(K1)
Turnover - 22,091,272 12,350,522 4,236,829 3,705,633 2,801,165
Profit before taxation Br A E 318,414 329,263 195,594 135,859 33,554
Taxation Fi18 (56,605) (69,710) (34,261) (24,091) (6,130)
Profit for the year F N 261,809 259,553 161,333 111,768 27,424
Attributable to: FE{f -
Equity holders of PANEIE 5y
the Company HEA 231,624 244,743 161,333 111,768 27,424
Minority interest DE AT R IE R 30,185 14,810 = = =
261,809 259,553 161,333 111,768 27,424
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE
As at 31 March
W=A=+—H
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
—EERE ZTENF TE+F ZTERF —TTRF
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FA&TT T T
(Note)
(K1)
Total assets WEE 4,755,011 5,095,669 773,901 556,020 461,216
Total liabilities BweE (3,403,719)  (3,906,095) (354,808) (297,909) (299,330)
Total equity farEs 1,351,292 1,189,574 419,093 258,111 161,886
Notes: Wi -

The effect of adoption of HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure
and Presentation” and HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” was adjusted to the opening balance of reserves for the
year ended 31 March 2006 in accordance with the transitional provisions
of HKAS 32 and HKAS 39. The figures prior to 2006 have not been
restated to reflect this change.
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RNERGTLENFERE[MTE : RERE®R| ARBBSE
ERIEW [SRTH : BRMFE] 2FENERABS ST ER
FRFRBEGHERFE R BRI EXHBE_TTRF=]
ST HIEFEZREBZAVERELRE - —STRFAZHT
AT EIIARRZEE -
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